
 

 

 

 
To: Chair and Members of the Planning 

Committee 
Date: 

 
Thursday, 31 October 
2024 
 

 Direct Dial: 
 

01824 712589 

 e-mail: democratic@denbighshire.gov.uk 

 
 
Dear Councillor 
 
You are invited to attend a meeting of the PLANNING COMMITTEE to be held at 9.30 
AM on WEDNESDAY, 6 NOVEMBER 2024 in COUNCIL CHAMBER, COUNTY HALL, 
RUTHIN AND BY VIDEO CONFERENCE. 
 
Yours sincerely  
 
 
G Williams 
Monitoring Officer 
 
 
AGENDA 
 
1 APOLOGIES  

 

2 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  (Pages 5 - 6) 

 Members to declare any personal or prejudicial interests in any business 

identified to be considered at this meeting. 

 

3 URGENT MATTERS AS AGREED BY THE CHAIR   

 Notice of items which, in the opinion of the Chair, should be considered at the 

meeting as a matter of urgency pursuant to Section 100B(4) of the Local 

Government Act, 1972. 

 

4 MINUTES  (Pages 7 - 12) 

 To confirm the accuracy of the minutes of the Planning Committee meeting 

held on the 9 October 2024 (copy attached). 

 

APPLICATIONS FOR PERMISSION FOR DEVELOPMENT (ITEMS 5 - 7) - 
 

Public Document Pack



 

 

5 APPLICATION NO. 45/2024/1019 - 1 WELLINGTON ROAD, RHYL, LL18 
1AY  (Pages 13 - 34) 

 To consider an application for the change of use from shop (use class A1) to 

a hot food takeaway/restaurant (use class A3) and installation of new shop 

front  (copy attached). 

 

6 APPLICATION NO. 24/2023/0566 - LAND AT BRO FAIR, STATION ROAD, 
RHEWL  (Pages 35 - 64) 

 To consider an application for the erection of stable, formation of 

hardstanding and access road, landscaping and associated works (copy 

attached). 

 

7 APPLICATION NO. 47/2023/0838 - EGLWYS MC, TREMEIRCHION  (Pages 
65 - 96) 

 To consider an application for the Conversion of chapel to form dwelling 

including the demolition and rebuilding of vestry building and erection of 

single storey extension, formation of vehicular access, parking area and 

associated works (copy attached). 

 

 
 
MEMBERSHIP 
 
Councillors 
 
Councillor Mark Young (Chair) 
 

Councillor Alan James (Vice-Chair) 
 

Michelle Blakeley-Walker 
Ellie Chard 
Karen Edwards 
Gwyneth Ellis 
James Elson 
Chris Evans 
Justine Evans 
Jon Harland 
Huw Hilditch-Roberts 
Delyth Jones 
 

Julie Matthews 
Terry Mendies 
Raj Metri 
Merfyn Parry 
Arwel Roberts 
Gareth Sandilands 
Andrea Tomlin 
Cheryl Williams 
Elfed Williams 
 

 
COPIES TO: 
 
All Councillors for information 
Press and Libraries 
Town and Community Councils 
 



WELCOME TO DENBIGHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL'S 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

 

HOW THE MEETING WILL BE CONDUCTED 
  

 
Unless the Chair of the Committee advises to the contrary, the order in which the main items will be taken 
will follow the agenda set out at the front of this report. 
 

 

General introduction 
 
The Chair will open the meeting at 9.30am and welcome everyone to the Planning Committee. 
 
The Chair will ask if there are any apologies for absence and declarations of interest. 
 
The Chair will invite Officers to make a brief introduction to matters relevant to the meeting. 
 
Officers will outline as appropriate items where we have received requests for deferral, withdrawals, special 
reports, and any Part 2 items where the press and public may be excluded. Reference will be made to 
additional information prior to the start of the meeting, including the late representations/amendments 
summary sheets (‘Late Sheets’) and any supplementary or revised plans relating to items for consideration. 
 
The Late Sheets' contain important information, including a summary of material received in relation to items 
on the agenda between the completion of the main reports and the day before the meeting. The sheets also 
set out the proposed running order on planning applications. 
 
In relation to the running order of items, any Members seeking to bring forward consideration of an item will 
be expected to make such a request immediately following the Officer's introduction. Any such request must 
be made as a formal proposal and will be subject to a vote.  
 
The Planning Committee currently consists of 21 elected Members. In accordance with protocol, 11 
Members must be present at the start of a debate on an item to constitute a quorum and to allow a vote to be 
taken.  
 
County Council Members who are not elected onto the Planning Committee may attend the meeting and 
speak on an item, but are not able to make a proposal to grant or refuse, or to vote. 

  
 

CONSIDERING PLANNING APPLICATIONS  

 
The sequence to be followed 

 

The Chair will announce the item which is to be dealt with next. In relation to planning applications, reference 
will be made to the application number, the location and basis of the proposal, the relevant local Members for 
the area, and the Officer recommendation. 
 
If any Member is minded to propose deferral of an item, including to allow for the site to be visited by a Site 
Inspection Panel, the request should be made, with the planning reason for deferral, before any public 
speaking or debate on that item. 
 
 

Page 3

Agenda Item 1



Where relevant, the Chair will offer the opportunity for Members to read any late information on an item on 
the 'Late Sheets' before proceeding. 
 
Prior to any debate, the Chair may invite Officers to provide a brief introduction to an item where this is 
considered to be worthwhile in view of the nature of the application.  
 
The Chair will announce that the item is open for debate and offer Members opportunity to speak and to 
make propositions on the item.  
 
If any application has been subject to a Site Inspection Panel prior to the Committee, the Chair will normally 
invite those Members who attended, including the Local Member, to speak first. 
 
On all other applications, the Chair will permit the Local Member(s) to speak first, should he/she/they wish to 
do so. 
 
Members are normally limited to a maximum of five minutes speaking time, and the Chair will conduct the 
debate in accordance with Standing Orders. 
 
Once a Member has spoken, he/she should not speak again unless seeking clarification of points arising in 
debate, and then only once all other Members have had the opportunity to speak, and with the agreement of 
the Chair. 
 
At the conclusion of Members debate, the Chair will ask Officers to respond as appropriate to questions and 
points raised, including advice on any resolution in conflict with the recommendation. 
 
Prior to proceeding to the vote, the Chair will invite or seek clarification of propositions and seconders for 
propositions for or against the Officer recommendation, or any other resolutions including amendments to 
propositions. Where a proposition is made contrary to the Officer recommendation, the Chair will seek 
clarification of the planning reason(s) for that proposition, in order that this may be recorded in the Minutes of 
the meeting. The Chair may request comment from the Legal and Planning Officers on the validity of the 
stated reason(s). 
 
The Chair will announce when the debate is closed, and that voting is to follow. 

 
The voting procedure 

 
Before requesting Members to vote, the Chair will announce what motions have been made, and how the 
vote is to proceed. If necessary, further clarification may be sought of amendments, new or additional 
conditions and reasons for refusal, so there is no ambiguity over what the Committee is voting for or against. 
 
Members attending via Zoom 
The voting will proceed with the Chair going around all the Planning Committee members eligible to vote to 
ask for their verbal “For”, “Against” or “Abstain” vote. The votes will be marked down.  
 
Members attending in person in the Chamber 
The Members will use the electronic voting system and the result will be read out by the Chair. 
 
Final Result 
The Chair will add up the votes and will announce whether the application has been approved or refused. 

Page 4



 
 
 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 

 

 

 
Code of Conduct for Members 
 

DISCLOSURE AND REGISTRATION OF INTERESTS 
 
  

I, (name)   

  

a *member/co-opted member of 
(*please delete as appropriate) 

Denbighshire County Council  

 
 

 

CONFIRM that I have declared a *personal / personal and prejudicial 
interest not previously declared in accordance with the provisions of Part III 
of the Council’s Code of Conduct for Members, in respect of the following:- 
(*please delete as appropriate) 

Date of Disclosure:   

   

Committee (please specify):   

   

Agenda Item No.   

   

Subject Matter:   

   

Nature of Interest: 

(See the note below)* 

 

 
 

 

   

Signed   

   

Date   

 

 
*Note: Please provide sufficient detail e.g. ‘I am the owner of land adjacent to the application for planning permission 
made by Mr Jones', or 'My husband / wife is an employee of the company which has made an application for financial 
assistance’. 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



This page is intentionally left blank



 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 
Minutes of a meeting of the Planning Committee held in Council Chamber, County Hall, 
Ruthin and by video conference on Wednesday, 9 October 2024 at 9.30 am. 
 

PRESENT 

Councillors Michelle Blakeley-Walker, Ellie Chard, Karen Edwards, Gwyneth Ellis, 
James Elson, Justine Evans, Jon Harland, Huw Hilditch-Roberts, Alan James (Vice-
Chair), Julie Matthews, Terry Mendies, Merfyn Parry, Gareth Sandilands, Andrea Tomlin, 
Elfed Williams and Mark Young (Chair) 

ALSO PRESENT 

Legal Advisor (CL), Monitoring Officer (GW), Principal Planning Officer (PG), 
Development Manager (PM) Principal Planning Officer (SS), Senior Engineer (MP) 
Trainee Solicitor (EC) Committee Administrator (NH) and Senior Committee 
Administrator: Zoom Host (KJ) 
 
Local Member Councillor Bobby Feeley 

 
1 APOLOGIES  

 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Chris Evans, Delyth Jones, 

Raj Metri, Arwel Roberts and Cheryl Williams. 

2 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Chris Evans, Delyth Jones, 

Raj Metri, Arwel Roberts and Cheryl Williams. 

3 URGENT MATTERS AS AGREED BY THE CHAIR  
 
No items of an urgent nature had been raised with the Chair prior to the 

commencement of the meeting. 

4 MINUTES  
 
The minutes of the Planning Committee meeting held on the 4 September 2024 

were submitted.  

 

No matters relating to the accuracy of the minutes were raised. 

 

Matters arising – 

 

North Wales Hospital – The Chair requested an update regarding public 

engagement on a previous application: the North Wales Hospital site. The Principal 

Planning Officer stated that the team had been in close contact with the applicants 

and things were moving forward with a Section 106. Once the Section 106 had 

been completed and finalised officers would decide how to update the public and 

Members. 

 

Page 7

Agenda Item 4



RESOLVED: that subject to the above, the minutes of the meeting held on the 4 

September be received and approved as a true and correct record of the 

proceedings. 

5 APPLICATION NO: 43/2024/1086: LAND AT MIDNANT FARM GRONANT 
ROAD, PRESTATYN  
 
An application was submitted for the variation of condition no.2 of Planning 
Permission code no. 43/2023/0071 to vary the list of approved plans to include 
amendments to housetypes and layout. 

 
Public Speaker – Stuart Andrew: Design and Planning Director: Castle Green 
(applicant) (for) - The site in question was allocated for housing by Denbighshire 
County Council in its LDP in 2013. The allocation was for 65 dwellings, however the 
scheme was only for 45 homes, which was considered a suitable number for a site 
of this size. 10% of the dwellings already approved to be built would be affordable 
in accordance with the Council’s adopted Policy.  

 
Planning permission for the site was granted by the Committee late last year, and 
this application was to make minor amendments to part of the site to allow a 
surface water drainage scheme that would better comply with SuDs Standards. At 
the time of the previous application, the applicant was unable to access the site fully 
to obtain some ground investigation information which was required to finalise the 
surface water drainage strategy for the site. That additional survey work was able to 
be completed following the original granting of planning permission, and the 
investigation done proved that the storage of surface water proposed would be 
better done in a different place within the development boundaries. This had then 
led to the second application for a material amendment to the original planning 
permission, the main aim of which was to relocate the public open space proposed, 
within which storage cells for surface water would be buried, to better suit a final 
version of the surface water drainage design. 

 
The mix of housing proposed, amount of affordable housing and public open space, 
and the financial contributions of over £155,000 offered as part of the original 
scheme were all completely unchanged. 

 
The applicant was aware from the Planning Officer that at the time of thes 
Committees visit to the site last week, concerns were raised over its current 
condition. It was stressed that the applicant did not own the site at present, as the 
applicant required the aforementioned detailed drainage strategy to be agreed prior 
to taking ownership. The applicant had no part in the partial clearance of the site 
carried out over recent weeks, although they were aware that this had been done 
by the former tenant farmer, with the permission of the current landowner.  

 
The applicant shared the concerns over the state the site had currently been left in, 
and if permission was granted, it had been arranged with the landowner that a 
licence would immediately be put in place with them to allow access the site, to 
properly secure and clear it in advance of the applicant taking ownership of the land 
fully at the end of this month. Work to develop the site would then commence as 
soon as possible thereafter. 

Page 8



The material amendment to the original planning permission had of course been 
subject to a full planning consultation, and all statutory consultees and Council 
Officers involved had confirmed that they had no objections to the approval of the 
scheme. It was therefore recommended by Planning Officers that consent for this 
amendment to the original planning permission be granted. 

 
General Debate –  
The Principal Planning Officer clarified due to land ownership and access issues 
the applicant was unable to undertake the correct surveys to ensure that the 
drainage system worked. Now that access had been gained, the surveys had now 
been completed and the application related to the changes in the layout in the 
proposal. The key changes in the layout were on the western boundary and to the 
northern point of the site. The changes to the layout had been proposed to allow 
the drainage of the site to be efficient.   

 
The Chair informed the Committee that a site inspection had taken place on the 2 
October 2024 and was beneficial however, concerns were raised regarding the 
current state of the site. The Principal Planning Officer stated that the applicant’s 
intension was to access the site as soon as possible and make the site safe. An 
additional condition had been recommended by officers stating that within 4 weeks 
of the applicant gaining access to the site, the applicant submitted details of how 
the site was to be made good and safe.  

 
Local Member, Councillor Andrea Tomlin was grateful for the explanation on why 
the application had been brought back to the Planning Committee. Some properties 
close to the site, due to the change in layout, would be adversely affected and was 
content that everything had been done to mitigate this for residents as practicable. 
Questions were raised regarding an additional condition being added to the 
proposal. Councillor Tomlin proposed that the dwellings on the site be declared as 
for residential use only (C3 use) in view of the high demand for residential 
properties within Prestatyn. The Principal Planning Officer stated that a condition of 
C3 use restriction could be placed on the site and this would prevent a property 
being bought and used as a holiday let. Members would need to be certain that 
there was evidence of the need for residential properties within the area. Adding the 
condition of C3 only would not restrict a buyer of a property on the site in the future 
submitting an application for the condition to be removed. The Chair stated that 
there was a residential housing need in the area as the site had been accepted for 
dwellings outside of the Local Development Plan (LDP) area. 

 
Councillor Merfyn Parry seconded the C3 condition being added to the application. 

 
Councillor Merfyn Parry questioned the use of hip roofs on the dwellings close to 
the western boundary. The Principal Planning Officer, Sarah Stubbs clarified that 
the dwellings nearest to the boundary on Ffordd Onnen would have hipped roofs.  

 
Councillor Jon Harland requested that the additional condition proposed and 
seconded be removed and the application be granted as it was submitted, due to 
legislation already being in place by Welsh Government to discourage the 
ownership of holiday let properties. The Principal Planning Officer clarified that that 
the legislation was not in place in Denbighshire currently, some Councils had put in 

Page 9



place an article 4 direction which prevented the change of C class and 
Denbighshire Council were looking at pilot schemes which were taking place in 
other areas. Councillor Jon Harland withdrew his proposal.  
 
Councillor Alan James was present at the site visit and was happy that the 
condition of the site had been raised.  
 
Proposal – Councillor Alan James proposed that the application be GRANTED in 
accordance with officer recommendations SECONDED by Councillor Andrea 
Tomlin. 
 
Vote –  
For – 16 
Against – 0 
Abstain – 0 

 
RESOLVED: that –  

 An additional condition of the dwellings used for C3 use only be added to 

the application and  

 the application be GRANTED in accordance with Officer 

recommendations. 

 

6 APPLICATION NO. 02/2024/1010: OLD CHAPEL RHOS STREET RUTHIN  
 
An application was submitted for the change of use of part of depot to café 

installation of access ramp and associated works. 

 

Public Speaker – Catherine Howatson (applicant) (for) – The application was to 

open a Coffee Shop based on a similar working pattern of other high street brands, 

supplying a range of quality coffee-based beverages and food. Food would be 

sourced and made locally off site. 

 

The goal was to create a safe and welcoming place for customers, especially the 

youth of the surrounding schools.  The building was originally built to bring people 

together and it was the ambition of the applicant to bring the building back in use for 

the enjoyment of the community.  

 

It was anticipated that many customers would be on foot however, there was a car 

park to the side of the building and a public car park 40 metres away.  

 

The business was to be family run and the opening hours would be 8am-5pm to 

accommodate school children offering eat in and takeaway options. 

 

Local member, Councillor Bobby Feeley welcomed the application and the Chapel 

being brought back into use in the community.  

 

Page 10



Local member Huw Hilditch- Roberts also welcomed the building being brought 

back into use and commented that it would be an asset and safe place for school 

children in the area.  

 

Proposal – Councillor Huw Hilditch-Roberts proposed that the application be 

GRANTED in accordance with officer recommendations SECONDED by Councillor 

Terry Mendies. 

 

Vote –  

For – 16 

Against -0 

Abstain – 0 

 

RESOLVED: that the application be GRANTED in accordance with officer 

recommendations.  

7 APPLICATION NO: 21/2021/1157: CAMP ALYN, TAFARN Y GELYN, 
LLANFERRES  
 
An application was submitted for the erection of 4 no. timber framed holiday units 

and associated works.  

 

No questions were raised by the Chair or members of the Planning Committee. 

 

Proposal – Councillor Huw Hilditch-Robers proposed that the application be 

GRANTED in accordance with officer recommendations SECONDED by Councillor 

Merfyn Parry. 

 

Vote –  

For – 16 

Against – 0 

Abstain -0 

 

RESOLVED: that the application be GRANTED in accordance with Officer 

recommendations. 

8 APPLICATION NO: 41/2024/0115 THE WARREN, BODFARI, DENBIGH  
 
An application was submitted for the erection of a rural dwelling, installation of a 

septic tank and associated works. 

 

No questions were raised by the Chair or members of the Planning Committee 

 

Proposal – Councillor Terry Mendies proposed that the application was GRANTED 

in accordance with officer recommendations, SECONDED by Councillor Andrea 

Tomlin. 

 

Vote –  

Page 11



For – 16 

Against – 0 

Abstain – 0 

 

RESOLVED: that the application be GRANTED in accordance with Officer 

recommendations. 

9 APPLICATION NO: 46/2024/1200 GREEN GATES CWTTIR LANE, ST ASAPH  
 
To consider an application for the demolition of existing building, change of use of 

land from agricultural land to a new nature reserve and habitat creation comprising 

of the restoration of existing ponds, the creation of new ponds, the creation of a 

wetland area adjacent to two small watercourses and creation of woodland and 

grassland habitat areas, construction of a permissive pathway and engineering 

works to create a raised viewing area together with associated works.  

 

The Principal Planning Officer, Sarah Stubbs explained that the site was allocated 

in the LDP for employment use and the application was for the change of use of 

land. The application was for the creation of a nature reserve and was important for 

crested newts. 

 

No questions were raised by the Chair or members of the Planning Committee. 

 

Proposal – Councillor Gareth Sandilands proposed that the application be 

GRANTED in accordance with officer recommendations SECONDED by Councillor 

James Elson. 

 

Vote –  

For – 16 

Against – 0 

Abstain – 0  

 

RESOLVED: that the application be GRANTED in accordance with officer 

recommendations. 

10 INFORMATION REPORT: DENBIGHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL LOCAL 
DEVELOPMENT PLAN 2006-2021: ANNUAL MONITORING REPORT 2024  
 
Members were presented the information report, Denbighshire County Council 

Local Development Plan 2006-2021: Annual Monitoring Report 2024. 

 

RESOLVED: that the Planning Committee note the Denbighshire County Council 

Local Development Plan 2006-2021: Annual Monitoring Report 2024. 

 
Meeting concluded at 10.20am 
 

Page 12



Ward – West Rhyl 

Ward Member(s) – Cllr Joan Butterfield and Cllr Alan James (c)   

Application Number - 45/2024/1019/PF 

Proposal - Change of use from shop (use class A1) to a hot food takeaway/restaurant (use 
class A3) and installation of new shop front  

Location - Office 2 Home, 1 Wellington Road, Rhyl, Denbighshire, LL18 1AY 

 

Page 13

Agenda Item 5



This page is intentionally left blank



 
45-2024-1019 

 Graddfa / Scale: 1:620

Canol / Centre: 300849, 381397 

Dyddiad / Date: 2024-10-23 11:55:26

© Hawlfraint y Goron a hawliau cronfa ddata 2024 Arolwg Ordnans AC0000819894 © Crown copyright
and database rights 2024 Ordnance Survey AC0000819894

 

Page 15



45/2024/1019/PF – 1, Wellington Road, 

Rhyl

 Change of use from shop (use class A1) 

to a hot food takeaway/restaurant (use 

class A3) and installation of new 

shopfront

P
age 16



Location Plan

P
age 17



Proposed Floor Plan

P
age 18



Proposed Elevation

P
age 19



Extraction detail

P
age 20



Site photographs

P
age 21



P
age 22



Officer - Sarah Stubbs 

Ward – West Rhyl 

Ward Member(s) – Cllr Joan Butterfield and Cllr Alan James (c)   

Application Number - 45/2024/1019/PF 

Proposal - Change of use from shop (use class A1) to a hot food takeaway/restaurant (use 
class A3) and installation of new shop front  

Location - Office 2 Home, 1 Wellington Road, Rhyl, Denbighshire, LL18 1AY 

Applicant - Mr Muhammed Yasir Malik Parveen Coffee Limited 

Constraints 

Denbighshire Electoral Divisions Rhyl West 

City Town and Community Councils Rhyl Community 

Conservation Areas Rhyl Central 

Townscape Heritage Rhyl Townscape Heritage Initiative area 

Local Development Plan Town Centre Boundary 

Local Development Plan Development Boundary 

Local Development Plan Conservation Area 

Article 4 Directions TP/R/1/3 

Groundwater Vulnerability 100k MAJOR 

  

REASON(S) APPLICATION REPORTED TO COMMITTEE: 
Scheme of Delegation Part 2 
• Recommendation to grant / approve – 4 or more objections received 
• Recommendation to grant / approve – Town / Community Council objection 
 
 CONSULTATION RESPONSES: 
RHYL TOWN COUNCIL 
"Objection on the following grounds: 

1.The premises is located close to the junction with High Street and Russell Road – probably 
the busiest junction within Rhyl with significant traffic usage by vehicles leaving Rhyl towards 
either Prestatyn to the East or along the A525 to the South. There is no on street permitted 
parking adjacent to the building.  

Although the applicant submits that vehicle parking is not relevant to the application, the 
nature of the proposed use will inevitably result in the parking of vehicles immediately 
outside the premises. Experience at other similar premises suggests that in addition to 

Page 23



customer parking, food delivery service providers will also park immediately adjacent to the 
premises while collecting delivery orders. The Council therefore consider that the proposed 
takeaway service would result in on-street parking at this busy junction and create conflict 
with both other road users and pedestrians. This the Council submits would be contrary to 
paragraph viii of Policy RD1of the adopted Local Plan. 
 
2. The application makes no reference to the number of occupied flats immediately above 
the shop unit on the first and second floors of the building. It is not known whether adjacent 
buildings are similarly occupied. (The building also shares a boundary with properties on 
High Street which may also have occupied accommodation) 
 
It is the opinion of the Council that the proposed change of use would give rise to an 
unacceptable impact on the amenity of these residential occupiers above, to the sides and to 
the rear of the application site by way of noise, disturbance and odours. On this basis, it is 
considered that the application is unacceptable as it is contrary to test vi) of Policy RD 1 of 
the Denbighshire Local Development Plan. 
 
It has been noted that other retail units located adjacent to the premises have also 
expressed concerns regarding odours impacting on their business" 

Betsi Cadwalader University Health Board 
Express general concerns relating to the proliferation of hot food uses in the area 

 DENBIGHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL CONSULTEES – 
 Traffic, Parking and Road Safety: 
 - Highways Officer 
 No objections 

Public Protection Officer 
No objections subject to conditions ensuring compliance with the Noise and Odour 
Assessments  

Conservation Officer 
No comments  

 RESPONSE TO PUBLICITY: 

In objection: - 
1.Adil Oflazoglu, Golden Razir Barbers, 66 High Street, Rhyl 
2. Ross Starkey, High Street News, 66a High Street, Rhyl 
3. Y. Aka (AJs Cafe) Mostyn Buildings, 3a Wellington Road, Rhyl 
4. Kay Pidduck Les & Ritas Fish Bar, 28 Wellington Road, Rhyl 

Summary of planning-based representations in objection: 
 
General Comments  
Rhyl doesn't need another a fish and chip shop; concerns about the drains blocking 
 
Amenity 
Concerns about smells and litter will increase 
  

Page 24



Highways 
Will increase traffic, parked cars in front of the shop, blocking exit gate and dangerous next 
to the traffic lights, also for the cars waiting and turning to the right direction.  

In Support:- 
1. Amir Shahzad (Fone united) Unit 1a, White Rose Centre, High Street, Rhyl 
 
Summary of planning-based representations in support: 

Brings some opportunity for the town, will create a few jobs and contribute to the local 
economy, there are other shops in the town that are empty. 

EXPIRY DATE OF APPLICATION: 06/11/2024 

REASONS FOR DELAY IN DECISION: N/A  
 
PLANNING ASSESSMENT: 
1. THE PROPOSAL:  
1.1 Summary of proposals 
1.1.1 Full planning permission is sought for the change of use from a shop (use class A1) to 
a hot food takeaway/restaurant (use class A3) and installation of a new shopfront.  

1.1.2 The empty shop unit is the former 'Office 2 Home' Stationery shop which has been 
vacant for some time. Planning permission is sought to form a hot food takeaway with a 
restaurant area with the proposed floor plan showing a kitchen, storage area, office 
and toilet facilities. 
 
1.1.3 The proposal includes a new aluminium shopfront which includes a new doorway to 
access the take away and restaurant separately. A grey shopfront colour has been specified 
(illustration shown at front of report).  

1.1.4 The plans include a kitchen extraction system comprising of a wall type canopy 
extracting through a carbon filter then an Electrostatic Precipitator (ESP) system before the 
extract fan discharges at 1m above roof ridge (illustration shown at front of report). 
 
1.2 Other relevant information/supporting documents in the application 
1.2.1 A Noise Impact Assessment (including extraction details) and an Odour Assessment 
have been submitted with the application. 

 
1.3 Description of site and surroundings 
1.3.1 The application site is a vacant retail unit fronting Wellington Road in Rhyl Town 
Centre.  

1.3.2 The unit is located on a one way road section of Wellington Road close to it's junction 
with the High Street and Russell Road which is controlled by traffic signals. 
 
1.3.3  Within the Wellington Road and High Street area close to the application site, there 
are a mix of Class A1 retail and Class A3 units along with a number of vacant units. 
Immediately adjoining the application site is a Barbers shop and AJ's cafe.  
 
1.3.4 Upper floors of some premises in the area, including the application site are in 
residential use.  
  

Page 25



1.4 Relevant planning constraints/considerations 
1.4.1 The property is located in the development boundary of Rhyl and within the Policy PSE 
8 Town Centre boundary. 
 
1.4.2 The property is located within the Rhyl Central Conservation Area boundary. 

 
1.5 Relevant planning history 
1.5.1 Planning permission was granted in 2010 for the use of the upper floors to be used as 
4 no. self contained flats. 

 1.6 Developments/changes since the original submission 
1.6.1 A Noise Impact Assessment and an Odour Assessment has been submitted with the 
application along with additional information relating to the delivery arrangements and 
extraction system proposed.  
 
1.6.2 The description has been amended to include the installation of a new shopfront.  

 1.7 Other relevant background information 
1.7.1 None 

 2. DETAILS OF PLANNING HISTORY: 
2.1 45/2007/1175/PF Change of use of 1st and 2nd floor offices to 4 no. self-contained flats 
GRANTED 21st January 2010 

 3. RELEVANT POLICIES AND GUIDANCE: 
The main planning policies and guidance are considered to be: 

 
Denbighshire Local Development Plan Adopted June 2013  
Policy RD 1 - Sustainable Development and good quality design  
Policy PSE 8 - Development within town centres  
Policy VOE 1 - Key areas of importance  
 
Supplementary Planning Guidance  
Supplementary Planning Guidance Hot Food Takeaways  
 
Government Policy / Guidance  
Planning Policy Wales Edition 12, 2024  
Future Wales: The National Plan 2040  
Development Management Manual 2017  

Welsh Government ‘Building Better Places: The Planning System Delivering Resilient and 
Brighter Futures' (July 2020) 

4. MAIN PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS: 
In terms of general guidance on matters relevant to the consideration of a planning 
application, Section 9.1.2 of the Development Management Manual (DMM) confirms the 
requirement that planning applications ‘must be determined in accordance with the approved 
or adopted development plan for the area, unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise'. It advises that material considerations must be relevant to the regulation of the 
development and use of land in the public interest, and fairly and reasonably relate to the 
development concerned. 
The DMM further states that material considerations can include the number, size, layout, 

Page 26



design and appearance of buildings, the means of access, landscaping, service availability 
and the impact on the neighbourhood and on the environment (Section 9.4). 

The DMM must be considered in conjunction with Planning Policy Wales (Edition 12, 2024) 
and other relevant legislation. 

Denbighshire County Council declared a climate change and ecological emergency in July 
2019. In October 2020 the Council approved an amendment of its Constitution so that all 
decisions of the Council now have regard to tackling climate and ecological change as well 
as having regard to the sustainable development principles and the well-being of future 
generations. 

The Council aims to become a Net Carbon Zero Council and an Ecologically Positive 
Council by 31 March 2030. Its goal and priorities are set out in its Climate and Ecological 
Change Strategy 2021/22 to 2029/30. The actions, projects and priorities in the Strategy 
directly relate to council owned and controlled assets and services. One priority of the 
Strategy is to promote the existing policies within the Local Development Plan (LDP) 2006 to 
2021 and Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) which contribute to environmentally 
responsible development. In preparing these reports to determine planning applications we 
therefore highlight the LDP 2006 to 2021 and appropriate SPG. Applications that are 
determined in accordance with the LDP 2006 to 2021 are environmentally responsible 
developments. 

Planning applications are assessed in accordance with statutory requirements including The 
Environment (Wales) Act 2016, national policy (Future Wales, PPW 12) and local policy 
(LDP 2006 to 2021) and therefore they are assessed with regard to tackling climate and 
ecological change which is a material consideration. 

The following paragraphs in Section 4 of the report therefore refer to all statutory 
requirements, policies and material planning considerations which are considered to be of 
relevance to the proposal. 

4.1 The main land use planning issues in relation to the application are considered to be: 
4.1.1 Principle 
4.1.2 Visual amenity including impact on Conservation Area 
4.1.3 Residential amenity including noise and odour 
4.1.4 Drainage 
4.1.5 Highways (including access and parking) 
 
4.2 In relation to the main planning considerations: 
4.2.1 Principle 
The application site is located within the development boundary and town centre boundary 
(Policy PSE 8) of Rhyl.   

Policy PSE 8 sets out the local policy criteria that address developments within a defined 
town centre boundary and permits development proposals provided they i) enhance the 
vitality and viability of the town centre and ii) they do not result in an unacceptable imbalance 
of retail and non retail uses. 

As there has been a change in national policy stance on town centre development since 
the adoption of the LDP in 2013, Policy PSE 8 criteria should be interpreted in line with the 
provisions contained in Future Wales (2021), Planning Policy Wales (PPW) Edition 
12 (2024) and Welsh Government ‘Building Better Places’ (July 2020). All of these 

Page 27



documents stress the importance of diversification in town centres uses to maintain vitality 
and viability. 

Whilst Policy PSE 8 and Supplementary Planning Guidance focus the assessment of a 
proposal’s impact on the balance of retail and non-retail uses in terms of town centre vitality 
and viability, preferring the retention of Class A1 retail uses, Welsh Government is very vocal 
about the ‘town centre first principle’ as set out in Future Wales and PPW.  PPW, paragraph 
4.3.21, prescribes the approach to identifying a sustainable location for restaurants/ 
takeaways (Use Class A3). “The sequential approach applies to retail and all other uses 
complementary to retail and commercial centres. Other complementary uses include, for 
example, financial and professional services (A2), food and drink (A3), offices (B1), hotels 
(C1), educational and other non-residential establishments (D1), leisure (D2) and certain 
other uses such as launderettes and theatres.”  It is noted that National policy not only 
supports town centre diversification but explicitly considers food and drink establishments 
(Class A3 uses) as a reasonable complementary use.  

In conclusion it is considered that there is no reason to oppose the principle of the proposal 
in terms of national and local planning policy.  
  
4.2.2 Visual amenity including impact on Conservation Area  
Local Development Plan Policy RD 1 test (i) requires due regard to issues of siting, layout, 
form, character, design, materials, aspect, microclimate and intensity of use of land / 
buildings and spaces between buildings, which are matters relevant to the visual impact of 
development; test (iv) requires that development does not unacceptably affect prominent 
public views into, out of, or across any settlement or area of open countryside; test (vi) 
requires the incorporation of existing landscape or other features, takes account of site 
contours, and changes in levels and prominent skylines; and test (xiii) requires the 
incorporation of suitable landscaping measures to protect and enhance development in its 
local context. 

Local Development Plan Policy VOE1 seeks to protect sites of built heritage from 
development which would adversely affect them and requires that development proposals 
should maintain and wherever possible enhance them for their characteristics, local 
distinctiveness and value to local communities.  

Planning Policy Wales (Edition 12, 2024) in Chapter 6 ‘Distinctive and Natural Places’ states 
there should be a general presumption in favour of the preservation or enhancement of the 
character or appearance of a conservation area or its setting. 
 
There are no objections raising visual amenity or Conservation based concerns. 
 

The proposal seeks to replace the existing shopfront with a grey aluminium shopfront which 
would be in keeping with the area and Conservation Area. The final colour specification has 
not been provided therefore it is considered reasonable to impose a condition requiring the 
submission of this detail. The extraction system is located to the rear and is not visible from 
Wellington Road or locally.  
 
Signage is shown on the proposed elevation plan submitted however as this may require 
separate Advert consent, a note to applicant is suggested.  
 

The proposal is considered acceptable in relation to visual amenity and 
Conservation policies.  

Page 28



 4.2.3 Residential amenity including noise and odour 
Local Development Plan Policy RD 1 test (i) requires due regard to issues of siting, layout, 
form, character, design, materials, aspect, microclimate and intensity of use of land / 
buildings and spaces between buildings, which touch on the potential for impact on 
residential amenity; test (vi) sets the requirement to assess the impact of development on 
the amenities of local residents, other land and property users, or characteristics of the 
locality, in terms of increased activity, disturbance, noise, dust, fumes, litter, drainage, light 
pollution, etc. 
 

The Development Management Manual advises at paragraph 9.4.3 that material 
considerations must be fairly and reasonably related to the development concerned, and can 
include the number, size, layout, design and appearance of buildings, the means of access, 
landscaping, service availability and the impact on the neighbourhood and on the 
environment; and the effects of a development on, for example, health, public safety and 
crime. The residential amenity impacts of development should therefore be regarded as a 
potential material consideration. 
 
Representations from the Town Council and local business owners have been submitted 
raising general amenity concerns, such as noise, odour and litter impacts. Public Protection 
Officers have also been consulted. 

A Noise Impact Assessment and Odour Assessment was requested and has been submitted 
in support of the application. Public Protection Officers have reviewed the assessments and 
have confirmed no objections, subject to conditions to ensure the development is carried out 
in accordance with the approved Noise and Odour Assessment details. 
 
Whilst respecting the concerns raised, having regard to the location of the proposed 
development in the town centre where there are a mix of uses, it is considered that subject 
to conditional controls the change of use would not have an unacceptable impact on 
residential amenity. 
 
4.2.6 Drainage 
Local Development Plan Policy RD 1 test (xi) requires that development satisfies physical or 
natural environmental considerations relating to drainage and liability to flooding. 

Planning Policy Wales confirms that factors to be taken into account in making planning 
decisions (material considerations) must be planning matters; that is, they must be relevant 
to the regulation of the development and use of land in the public interest, towards the goal 
of sustainability. The drainage / flooding impacts of a development proposal are a material 
consideration. 

Planning Policy Wales (Edition 12, 2024) at para 6.6.9 states ‘The adequacy of water supply 
and the sewage infrastructure should be fully considered when proposing development, both 
as a water service and because of the consequential environmental and amenity impacts 
associated with a lack of capacity’. 

Planning Policy Wales ((Edition 12, 2024) at paras 6.6.22 to 6.6.29 identifies flood risk as a 
material consideration in planning and along with TAN 15 – Development and Flood Risk, 
which provides a detailed framework within which risks arising from different sources of 
flooding should be assessed. TAN 15 advises that in areas which are defined as being of 
high flood hazard, development proposals should only be considered where: 

Page 29



• new development can be justified in that location, even though it is likely to be at risk from 
flooding; and  

• the development proposal would not result in the intensification of existing development 
which may itself be at risk; and  
Concerns have been raised regarding drains blocking.  

The proposal relates to an existing building with established drainage connections and 
facilities however it would introduce a hot food use. No specific drainage details have been 
provided with the application and therefore it is considered necessary to impose a condition 
requiring details of a grease trap which should be fitted to ensure the public sewerage 
system is protected.  

4.2.7 Highways (including access and parking) 
Local Development Plan Policy RD 1 supports development proposals subject to meeting 
tests (vii) and (viii) which oblige provision of safe and convenient access for a range of 
users, together with adequate parking, services and manoeuvring space; and require 
consideration of the impact of development on the local highway network. 
 
Policy ASA 3 requires adequate parking spaces for cars and bicycles in connection with 
development proposals, and outlines considerations to be given to factors relevant to the 
application of standards. The Parking Standards in New Developments SPG sets out the 
maximum parking standards for new developments 
 
These policies reflect general principles set out in Planning Policy Wales (Edition 12, 2024) 
and TAN 18 – Transport, in support of sustainable development. 
 
The Development Management Manual advises at paragraph 9.4.3 that material 
considerations must be fairly and reasonably related to the development concerned, and can 
include the number, size, layout, design and appearance of buildings, the means of access, 
landscaping, service availability and the impact on the neighbourhood and on the 
environment; and the effects of a development on, for example, health, public safety and 
crime. The highway impacts of development should therefore be regarded as a potential 
material consideration. 
 
The Town Council and a local business owner has raised concerns relating to highway 
safety as a result of the proposal in this location. The particular concern relates to the 
proximity of the application to the junction with the High Street and Russell Road and where 
on street parking is prohibited.  

Highways Officers have been consulted and have raised no objection to the proposal. It is 
acknowledged that the unit is located on a busy road and close to the High Street/Russell 
Road junction and that on street parking is prohibited on Wellington Road close to the 
application site.  However,  the site is in a town centre location, which is considered to be a 
sustainable and accessible location, there is on street parking available on nearby streets, 
with car parks and public transport links (bus and rail) all within close walking distance to the 
site. 
 
There is a rear yard and small parking area to the rear of the property, it can be accessed off 
Wellington Road and the High Street. The applicant has advised that delivery vehicles 
would park in an unloading area on the High Street and bring goods via the rear access into 
the proposed shop at the back. This is typical of many businesses in High Street/town centre 
locations.  

Page 30



In conclusion, this site is located in a sustainable and accessible location. It is not 
considered that the proposed use conflicts with the highways considerations of the policies 
mentioned above. 

Other matters 
In response to the comments from Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board in relation to the 
proliferation of hot food/Class A3 uses in the area, the Class A3 uses are spread out over a 
wide area and not concentrated in a specific area. The application site is in a town centre 
location where a mix of uses, including Class A3 uses are supported by planning policy. 
 
Well – being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 
The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 imposes a duty on the Council not 
only to carry out sustainable development, but also to take reasonable steps in exercising its 
functions to meet its sustainable development (or well-being) objectives. The Act sets a 
requirement to demonstrate in relation to each application determined, how the development 
complies with the Act. 

The report on this application has taken into account the requirements of Section 3 ‘Well-
being duties on public bodies’ and Section 5 ‘The Sustainable Development Principles’ of the 
Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015. The recommendation is made in 
accordance with the Act’s sustainable development principle through its contribution towards 
Welsh Governments well-being objective of supporting safe, cohesive and resilient 
communities. It is therefore considered that there would be no significant or unacceptable 
impact upon the achievement of well-being objectives as a result of the proposed 
recommendation. 

Equality Act 2010 
The Equality Act 2010 identifies a number of ‘protected characteristics’, namely age; 
disability; gender reassignment; pregnancy and maternity; race; religion or belief; sex; sexual 
orientation. A public authority must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to 
advancing equality. 

Having due regard to advancing equality involves: 
• removing or minimising disadvantages suffered by people due to their protected 
characteristics; 
• taking steps to meet the needs of people from protected groups where these differ from the 
need of other people; and 
• encouraging people from protected groups to participate in public life or in other activities 
where their participation is disproportionately low. 

The above duty has been given due consideration in the determination of this application. It 
is considered that the proposed development does not have any significant implications for, 
or effect on, persons who share a protected characteristic, over and above any other person. 

5. SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS: 

 
5.1 The principle of a Class A3 use in a town centre is considered acceptable. The proposal 
would also bring a vacant unit in the town centre and designated Conservation Area back in 
to use. 
 
5.2 With the imposition of planning conditions requiring grease trap details and to ensure 
noise and odour details are implemented in accordance with approved details it is not 
considered that there would be any adverse residential amenity impacts. 

Page 31



 
5.3 The visual amenity impacts are considered acceptable subject to agreeing the final 
colour finish which is suggested as planning condition. 

RECOMMENDATION: GRANT subject to the following conditions:  

 
1. The development shall begin not later than 5 years from the date of this decision. 
 
2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in strict accordance with details 
shown on the following submitted plans and documents unless specified as otherwise within 
any other condition pursuant to this permission: 
Extraction details Received 30-05-2024 and 23-07-2024 
Delivery Arrangements Received 23-07-2024 
Odour Impact Assessment Received 18-07-2024 
Noise Impact Assessment Received 18-07-2024 
Proposed floor and Elevation plan Received 29-05-2024 
Existing floor plan Received 29-05-2024 
Location Plan Received 13-03-2024 
Photograph of shop front Received 13-03-2024 
  
3 . The noise mitigation measures for the extraction system and for the noise from the 
premises shall be implemented in accordance with details in Section 5.5 and 6.0 of the 
approved Noise Impact Assessment. 
 
4. Prior to the commencement of the Class A3 hot food takeaway, details to demonstrate the 
noise mitigation measures for the extraction system have been implemented in full 
compliance with the details approved in Section 5.5 and 6.0 of the Noise Impact Assessment 
( DAA Group, Issue 01 dated 15/7/2024) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority.   
 
5 .The odour mitigation measures for the extraction system shall be implemented in 
accordance with the details in Section 3.3 of the approved Odour Assessment, and the 
system shall be maintained in accordance with the details in Section 4 of the approved 
Odour Assessment.  

6. Prior to the commencement of the Class A3 hot food takeaway,  details to demonstrate 
the odour mitigation measures for the extraction system have been implemented in full 
compliance with the details approved in Section 3.3 of the Odour Assessment ( NML, dated 
16/7/2024) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.   

7. Prior to the commencement of the use, an adequate grease trap shall be fitted in 
accordance with details that have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. Thereafter the grease trap shall be maintained so as to prevent grease 
entering the public sewerage system. 

8. The new aluminium shopfront shall be finished in a colour to be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall proceed in 
accordance with such approved details. 

 

  

Page 32



Reasons: 
1.To comply with the provisions of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 
2. For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure a satisfactory standard of development 
3 In the interests of residential amenity 
4 In the interests of residential amenity 
5. In the interests of residential amenity 
6. In the interests of residential amenity 
7. To protect the integrity of the public sewage system and ensure the free flow of sewage 
8.  In the interests of visual amenity and character and appearance of the Conservation Area 

Page 33



This page is intentionally left blank



 Paul Griffin 
WARD : 
 

Llandyrnog 
 

WARD MEMBER(S): 
 

Cllr Merfyn Parry (c) 

APPLICATION NO: 
 

24/2023/0566/ PF 

PROPOSAL: 
 

Erection of stable, formation of hardstanding and access road, 
landscaping and associated works 
 

LOCATION: Land at Bro Fair, Ffordd Yr Orsafm Rhewl, Ruthin, LL15 1TW 
 

 

Page 35

Agenda Item 6



This page is intentionally left blank



 
20-2023-0566 

 Graddfa / Scale: 1:5000

Canol / Centre: 311330, 360626 

Dyddiad / Date: 2024-10-23 12:25:33

© Hawlfraint y Goron a hawliau cronfa ddata 2024 Arolwg Ordnans AC0000819894 © Crown copyright
and database rights 2024 Ordnance Survey AC0000819894

 

Page 37



Page 38



24/2023/0566/ PF

Bro Fair, Rhewl

Erection of stable, formation of 
hardstanding and access road, 

landscaping and associated works

P
age 39



P
age 40



Location plan

P
age 41



P
age 42



Site plan

P
age 43



P
age 44



Elevations

P
age 45



P
age 46



Plans

P
age 47



P
age 48



View Across site

P
age 49



P
age 50



Access track

P
age 51



P
age 52



View from rear of  Bro Fair towards neighbouring site

P
age 53



P
age 54



View south towards site location (from north of  Bod 
Haulog – red line is approximate location of  

proposed building)

P
age 55



 Paul Griffin 
WARD : 
 

Llandyrnog 
 

WARD MEMBER(S): 
 

Cllr Merfyn Parry (c) 

APPLICATION NO: 
 

24/2023/0566/ PF 

PROPOSAL: 
 

Erection of stable, formation of hardstanding and access road, 
landscaping and associated works 
 

LOCATION: Land at Bro Fair, Ffordd Yr Orsaf, Rhewl, Ruthin, LL15 1TW 
 

APPLICANT: Mr Alan Jones 
 

CONSTRAINTS: None 
 

PUBLICITY 
UNDERTAKEN: 
 

Site Notice - No 
Press Notice - No 
Neighbour letters - Yes 
 

  
 
REASON(S) APPLICATION REPORTED TO COMMITTEE: 
Scheme of Delegation Part 2 
 

• Recommendation to grant / approve – Town / Community Council objection 
 

 
CONSULTATION RESPONSES: 

LLANYNYS COMMUNITY COUNCIL: 
“Llanynys community Council objects to the subject planning application and plans for the 
following reasons:- 
1. The proposed access to the site is on a narrow busy road which is part of a lay-by which will 
obstruct the lay-by. The site entrance should be with the existing site entrance to the dwelling. 
2. The proposed building seems too large for personal use only. 
3. The proposed building should be screened off. 
4. Is the planning application also for change of use from agricultural land to equestrian use. 
 
 
DENBIGHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL CONSULTEES – 
Traffic, Parking and Road Safety:  
- Highways Officer: 

No objections 
 

Ecology Officer: 
No objections 
 
 

RE-CONSULTATION RESPONSES (following amendment to the location of the building to 
adjacent to the rear of Bro Fair) 

LLANYNYS COMMUNITY COUNCIL: 
“Llanynys Community Council has no further observations to the subject planning application 
and plans following the re-consultation on the amended/additional plans/documents.” 

 
RESPONSE TO PUBLICITY: 

None received 
 

EXPIRY DATE OF APPLICATION: 18/01/2024    
 
EXTENSION OF TIME AGREED: 07/11/2024 

Page 56



 
REASONS FOR DELAY IN DECISION (where applicable):  
 

• additional information required from applicant 
• protracted negotiations resulting in amended plans 
• awaiting consideration by Committee 

 
 
PLANNING ASSESSMENT: 
1. THE PROPOSAL: 

1.1 Summary of proposals 
1.1.1 The application seeks permission for the erection of stables and tack room 

along with associated hard standing and access track on land adjacent Bro 
Fair, Rhewl. The application relates to approximately 0.065 ha of agricultural 
land and would result in the change of use from agriculture to equestrian. 
However, this would only relate to the site of the building – the remainder of 
the field would remain as agricultural.  

 
1.1.2 The proposed building would be located approximately 50m to the north-west of the 

dwelling Bro Fair. 
 

1.1.3 The building is proposed to comprise two stables, tack room, storage and feed 
rooms. 

 
1.1.4 It would measure 12m x 7.5m in size with a height of 4.5m and eave height of 3m. 

 
1.1.5 The external walls of the building would be finished in natural timber cladding, 

whilst the roof would be dark corrugated style sheeting. A concrete apron is 
proposed around the building with a parking area to the south. The building would 
be served by its own access track which would run from the rear of Bro Fair to the 
development site.  

 
 

1.2 Other relevant information/supporting documents in the application 
1.2.1 Additional information from agent on the justification for the building. 

 
 

1.3 Description of site and surroundings 
1.3.1 The site is an existing agricultural field located adjacent to the dwelling known as 

Bro Fair. An unrelated dwelling, Bod Hyfryd is located 80metres to the west of the 
site.  A large agricultural shed (belonging to Bod Hyfryd) is situated between the 
site and Bod Hyfryd 
 

1.3.2 The site is bound to the east by a mature hedgerow fronting the road and a ditch 
with hedgerow and a number of mature trees to the north. There is an existing 
agricultural access to the northeast corner of the field. 

 
1.4 Relevant planning constraints/considerations 

1.4.1 The site is located outside of the development boundary of Rhewl as defined by 
the LDP. 

 
1.5 Relevant planning history 

1.5.1 No history relating to the field. 
 

1.6 Developments/changes since the original submission 
1.6.1 Since the initial submission the building has been relocated nearer to the Bro 

Fair.  
 

 
 

Page 57



2. DETAILS OF PLANNING HISTORY: 
        2.1 No planning history relating to the field. 
 
 
3. RELEVANT POLICIES AND GUIDANCE: 

The main planning policies and guidance are considered to be: 
 

Local Policy/Guidance 
Denbighshire Local Development Plan (adopted 4th June 2013) 

   
Policy VOE5 – Conservation of natural resources 
 
Supplementary Planning Guidance 
Supplementary Planning Guidance Note: Conservation and Enhancement of Biodiversity  
Supplementary Planning Guidance Note: Trees & Landscaping 
 
 
Government Policy / Guidance 
Planning Policy Wales (Edition 12, 2024)  
Development Control Manual November 2016 
Future Wales – The National Plan 2040 
 
Technical Advice Notes 

 
TAN 5 Nature Conservation and Planning (2009) 
TAN 6 Planning for Sustainable Rural Communities (2010) 
TAN 12 Design (2016) 
 
      

 
4. MAIN PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS: 
 

In terms of general guidance on matters relevant to the consideration of a planning application, 
Section 9.1.2 of the Development Management Manual (DMM) confirms the requirement that 
planning applications ‘must be determined in accordance with the approved or adopted 
development plan for the area, unless material considerations indicate otherwise'. It advises that 
material considerations must be relevant to the regulation of the development and use of land in 
the public interest, and fairly and reasonably relate to the development concerned.  
The DMM further states that material considerations can include the number, size, layout, design 
and appearance of buildings, the means of access, landscaping, service availability and the 
impact on the neighbourhood and on the environment (Section 9.4).  
 
The DMM must be considered in conjunction with Planning Policy Wales (Edition 12, 2024) and 
other relevant legislation. 
 
Denbighshire County Council declared a climate change and ecological emergency in July 2019. 
In October 2020 the Council approved an amendment of its Constitution so that all decisions of 
the Council now have regard to tackling climate and ecological change as well as having regard 
to the sustainable development principles and the well-being of future generations.  
 
The Council aims to become a Net Carbon Zero Council and an Ecologically Positive Council by 
31 March 2030. Its goal and priorities are set out in its Climate and Ecological Change Strategy 
2021/22 to 2029/30. The actions, projects and priorities in the Strategy directly relate to council 
owned and controlled assets and services. One priority of the Strategy is to promote the existing 
policies within the Local Development Plan (LDP) 2006 to 2021 and Supplementary Planning 
Guidance (SPG) which contribute to environmentally responsible development. In preparing these 
reports to determine planning applications we therefore highlight the LDP 2006 to 2021 and 
appropriate SPG. Applications that are determined in accordance with the LDP 2006 to 2021 are 

Page 58

https://www.denbighshire.gov.uk/en/resident/planning-and-building-regulations/local-development-plan/ldp-spg/spg-documents/adopted-spg-documents/Supplementary-Planning-Guidance-Note-Conservation-and-Enhancement-of-Biodiversity-v2.pdf
https://www.denbighshire.gov.uk/en/resident/planning-and-building-regulations/local-development-plan/ldp-spg/spg-documents/adopted-spg-documents/Supplementary-Planning-Guidance-Note-Trees-Landscaping.pdf


environmentally responsible developments.  
 
Planning applications are assessed in accordance with statutory requirements including The 
Environment (Wales) Act 2016, national policy (Future Wales, PPW 12) and local policy (LDP 
2006 to 2021) and therefore they are assessed with regard to tackling climate and ecological 
change which is a material consideration. 
 
The following paragraphs in Section 4 of the report therefore refer to all statutory requirements, 
policies and material planning considerations which are considered to be of relevance to the 
proposal. 
 
4.1 The main land use planning issues in relation to the application are considered to be: 
 

4.1.1 Principle – including loss of agricultural land 
4.1.2 Visual amenity 
4.1.3 Residential amenity 
4.1.4 Ecology 
4.1.5 Drainage (including flooding) 
4.1.6 Highways (including access and parking) 

 
 

4.2 In relation to the main planning considerations: 
4.2.1 Principle 

PPW 12 advises that Local Planning Authorities should adopt a constructive approach 
towards agricultural development proposals, especially those which are designed to 
meet the needs of changing farming practices or are necessary to achieve 
compliance with new environmental, hygiene or welfare legislation. 
 
Technical Advice Note 6 (TAN6) Appendix 1 sets out the general considerations for 
planning authorities when dealing with agricultural prior notification applications. TAN 
6 paragraph 2.1.1 states the planning system must also protect and enhance the 
natural and historic environment and safeguard the countryside and open spaces. 
Whilst it is acknowledged that this is not an application for a prior notification due to 
the size of the agricultural holding, the principles are still relevant to this application in 
terms of impacts. 
 
TAN6 section A.14 states the siting of a new agricultural building can have a 
considerable impact on the surrounding landscape. Developments should be 
assimilated into the landscape without compromising the functions they are intended 
to serve. New buildings should normally form part of a group rather than stand in 
isolation and relate to existing buildings in size and colour. However, new buildings of 
modern design may sometimes best be separated from a group of traditional 
buildings to avoid visual conflict. Sites on skylines should be avoided. To reduce 
visual impact, buildings should be blended into the landscape or, on sloping sites, set 
into the slope if that can be achieved without disproportionate cost. 
 
Planning Policy Wales (Edition 12, 2024) paras 3.58 and 3.59 obliges weight to be 
given to protecting land of grades 1, 2, and 3a quality in the Agricultural land 
Classification (ALC). PPW 12 notes this land is considered to be the best and most 
versatile and justifies conservation as a finite resource for the future. It indicates that 
land of this quality should only be developed if there is an overriding need for the 
development, and either previously developed land or land of a lower grade is 
available, or available lower grade land has an environmental value recognised by a 
landscape, wildlife, historic or archaeological designation which outweighs the 
agricultural considerations. 
 
The justification provided to support the application states that the building is needed 
to provide shelter for the applicants 2 horses. The applicant has also stated that they 
do not have access to other land and that the shelters are required to ensure the 
continued well being of the horses.  

Page 59



 
The proposed erection of a stable building so as to ensure the continued welfare of 
the horses is in this instance considered justified. The proposal would only result in a 
loss of 0.065ha of agricultural land from a unit of 0.8ha. The remainder of the site 
would continue to be used for agricultural purposes (the grazing of horses on land is 
classified as agricultural). It is therefore considered that the proposal is acceptable in 
principle subject to further detailed assessment of its visual impact and other 
materials considerations. The loss of 0.065ha agricultural land from a site area of 
0.8ha is not considered to be significant enough to justify refusing planning 
permission in this instance.  
 
 

4.2.2 Visual amenity 
The Development Management Manual advises at paragraph 9.4.3 that material 
considerations must be fairly and reasonably related to the development concerned, 
and can include the number, size, layout, design and appearance of buildings, the 
means of access, landscaping, service availability and the impact on the 
neighbourhood and on the environment; and the effects of a development on, for 
example, health, public safety and crime. The visual amenity and landscape impacts 
of development should therefore be regarded as a potential material consideration. 
 
TAN6 section A.14 states the siting of a new agricultural building should be 
assimilated into the landscape without compromising the functions they are intended 
to serve. New buildings should normally form part of a group rather than stand in 
isolation and relate to existing buildings in size and colour. 
 
The proposed design of the agricultural building is typical for agricultural 
development. The building is proposed to have timber clad walls and dark coloured 
sheeting roof. It would be located to the rear of existing residential and agricultural 
development at Bro Fair and Bod Hyfryd. Additional landscaping is proposed in the 
form of additional hedgerows, tree planting and wildflower meadow planting.  
 
It is considered that the siting of the stables would not appear as excessively intrusive 
within the wider landscape and is to be constructed of appropriate materials for its 
location. Whilst the final details of landscaping have not been submitted, it is clear 
from the indicative plans that the development would be further assimilated into the 
landscape when the proposed landscaping has matured. It is considered that the 
proposal would not have a detrimental impact on the visual amenity of the area, 
subject to the imposition of planning conditions relating to the detailing and 
implementation of a landscaping scheme.  
 
 

4.2.3 Residential amenity 
The Development Management Manual advises at paragraph 9.4.3 that material 
considerations must be fairly and reasonably related to the development concerned, 
and can include the number, size, layout, design and appearance of buildings, the 
means of access, landscaping, service availability and the impact on the 
neighbourhood and on the environment; and the effects of a development on, for 
example, health, public safety and crime. The residential amenity impacts of 
development should therefore be regarded as a potential material consideration. 
 
The nearest unrelated residential property to the site is Bod Hyfryd, some 85metres 
east of the site. Bod Hyfryd is an existing dwelling on an agricultural unit and has a 
number of agricultural buildings within its grounds.  
Having regard to the context of the site, and the details of the proposal, it is not 
considered that the erection of an agricultural building in this location would raise 
privacy concerns given the separation distances, boundary treatments and the use of 
the building for agricultural purposes. 
It is not considered that the proposed building would result in unacceptable 
disturbance from vehicles using the access track 

Page 60



 
On balance, it is not considered that the proposed development would have an 
unacceptable impact on residential amenity. 
 
 

4.2.4 Ecology 
Policy VOE 5 requires due assessment of potential impacts on protected species or 
designated sites of nature conservation, including mitigation proposals, and suggests 
that permission should not be granted where proposals are likely to cause significant 
harm to such interests. 
 
This reflects policy and guidance in Planning Policy Wales (PPW 12) Section 6.4 
‘Biodiversity and Ecological Networks’, current legislation and the Conservation and 
Enhancement of Biodiversity SPG, which stress the importance of the planning 
system in meeting biodiversity objectives through promoting approaches to 
development which create new opportunities to enhance biodiversity, prevent 
biodiversity losses, or compensate for losses where damage is unavoidable. 
 
Planning Policy Wales (PPW 12) sets out that “planning authorities must seek to 
maintain and enhance biodiversity in the exercise of their functions. This means that 
development should not cause any significant loss of habitats or populations of 
species, locally or nationally and must provide a net benefit for biodiversity” (Section 
6.4.5). PPW also draws attention to the contents of Section 6 of the Environment 
(Wales) Act 2016, which sets a duty on Local Planning Authorities to demonstrate 
they have taken all reasonable steps to maintain and enhance biodiversity in the 
exercise of their functions. It is important that biodiversity and resilience 
considerations are taken into account at an early stage when considering 
development proposals (Section 6.4.4). 
 
The Development Management Manual advises at paragraph 9.4.3 that material 
considerations must be fairly and reasonably related to the development concerned, 
and can include the number, size, layout, design and appearance of buildings, the 
means of access, landscaping, service availability and the impact on the 
neighbourhood and on the environment; and the effects of a development on, for 
example, health, public safety and crime. The ecological impacts of development 
should therefore be regarded as a potential material consideration. 
 
Future Wales – The National Plan 2040 (2021) advises that 'In all cases, action 
towards securing the maintenance and enhancement of biodiversity (to provide a net 
benefit), the resilience of ecosystems and green infrastructure assets must be 
demonstrated as part of development proposals through innovative, nature‑based 
approaches to site planning and the design of the built environment'. It is therefore 
recommended that these are included and form part of any planning application. 
 
The proposal is not supported by an ecology survey however PPW states that all new 
developments should demonstrate a biodiversity enhancement. It is therefore 
considered reasonable to attach a condition to demonstrate that biodiversity 
enhancement will be provided at the site as a result of the development. It is therefore 
considered subject to a condition, that the proposals are in line with the advice 
contained in PPW 12 and would provide enhancement measures to increase the 
biodiversity net gain at the site. 
 
Subject to the imposition of an appropriately worded condition it is considered that the 
proposals are in line with the advice contained in PPW 12 and would provide 
enhancement measures to increase the biodiversity opportunities at the site. 
 

4.2.5 Drainage (including flooding) 
The Development Management Manual advises at paragraph 9.4.3 that material 
considerations must be fairly and reasonably related to the development concerned, 
and can include the number, size, layout, design and appearance of buildings, the 

Page 61



means of access, landscaping, service availability and the impact on the 
neighbourhood and on the environment; and the effects of a development on, for 
example, health, public safety and crime. The drainage and flood risk impacts of 
development should therefore be regarded as a potential material consideration. 
 
Planning Policy Wales (PPW 12) Section 6.6.9 states ‘The adequacy of water supply 
and the sewage infrastructure should be fully considered when proposing 
development, both as a water service and because of the consequential 
environmental and amenity impacts associated with a lack of capacity’. 
 
The application is for the erection of an agricultural building within an existing field. 
Hardstanding is proposed to the new access track and a concrete apron to the front of 
the building. 
 
SUDs approval will be required from the SAB as the building’s size exceeds 100sqm 
and the additional hardstanding is also over 100sqm. 
It is therefore considered that, subject to the SAB approval being obtained, the 
development would not have an unacceptable impact on the drainage of the site. 
 
 

4.2.6 Highways (including access and parking) 
The Development Management Manual advises at paragraph 9.4.3 that material 
considerations must be fairly and reasonably related to the development concerned, 
and can include the number, size, layout, design and appearance of buildings, the 
means of access, landscaping, service availability and the impact on the 
neighbourhood and on the environment; and the effects of a development on, for 
example, health, public safety and crime. The highway impacts of development 
should therefore be regarded as a potential material consideration. 
 
The proposal involves the utilisation an access to the site which runs between Bro 
Fair and Bod Hyfryd. The building is considered small scale for personal use. rather 
than for a commercial use. Accordingly. Highways Officers consider that vehicle 
movements to and from the site will not be excessive 
 
The Highways Officer raises no objection to the and as such the proposal is 
considered to be acceptable from a highways perspective. 
 
 
Other matters 
Well – being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 
The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 imposes a duty on the 
Council not only to carry out sustainable development, but also to take reasonable 
steps in exercising its functions to meet its sustainable development (or well-being) 
objectives. The Act sets a requirement to demonstrate in relation to each application 
determined, how the development complies with the Act. 
 
The report on this application has taken into account the requirements of Section 3 
‘Well-being duties on public bodies’ and Section 5 ‘The Sustainable Development 
Principles’ of the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015. The 
recommendation is made in accordance with the Act’s sustainable development 
principle through its contribution towards Welsh Governments well-being objective of 
supporting safe, cohesive and resilient communities. It is therefore considered that 
there would be no significant or unacceptable impact upon the achievement of well-
being objectives as a result of the proposed recommendation.  
 
Equality Act  2010 
The Equality Act 2010 identifies a number of ‘protected characteristics’, namely age; 
disability; gender reassignment; pregnancy and maternity; race; religion or belief; sex; 
sexual orientation. A public authority must, in the exercise of its functions, have due 
regard to advancing equality. 

Page 62



 
Having due regard to advancing equality involves: 
• removing or minimising disadvantages suffered by people due to their protected 
characteristics; 
• taking steps to meet the needs of people from protected groups where these differ 
from the need of other people; and 
• encouraging people from protected groups to participate in public life or in other 
activities where their participation is disproportionately low.  

 
The above duty has been given due consideration in the determination of this 
application. It is considered that the proposed development does not have any 
significant implications for, or effect on, persons who share a protected characteristic, 
over and above any other person.  
 
 

5. SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS: 
5.1 Having regard to the detailing of the proposals, the potential impacts on the locality, and the 

particular tests of the relevant policies, the application is considered to be acceptable and 
is recommended for grant subject to conditions. 
 
 
 

RECOMMENDATION: GRANT - subject to the following conditions: 
 
1. The development to which this permission relates shall be begun no later than 7th November 2029 
 
2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in strict accordance with details shown 
on the following submitted plans and documents unless specified as otherwise within any 
other condition pursuant to this permission: 
(i) Existing Site Location Plan (Drawing No. A001 Rev P06) - Received 25 June 2024 
(ii) Existing Site Plan (Drawing No. A003 Rev P06) - Received 25 June 2024 
(iii) Proposed Site Location Plan (Drawing No. A002 Rev P06) - Received 25 June 2024 
(iv) Proposed Site Plan (Drawing No. A004 Rev P06) - Received 25 June 2024 
(v) Proposed Agricultural Building Plans (Drawing No. A005 Rev P04) - Received 25 June 2024 
(vi) Proposed Agricultural Building Elevations (Drawing No. A006 Rev P04) - Received 25 June 2024 
(vii) Planning, Design and Access Statement - Received 15 August 2023 
(viii) Justification Statement - Received 25 June 2024 
(ix) Green Infrastructure Statement - Received 25 June 2024 
 
3. No development shall take place until a scheme for biodiversity enhancement has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. This shall include 
provision for roosting bats and nesting birds including the number, location and specification 
of those features which shall be shown on appropriate plans. The development shall be 
carried out strictly in accordance with the approved details. 
 
4. No development shall take place until a detailed scheme of landscaping has been submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. This shall include a full planting list 
of the species proposed ensuring only native species are implemented. The development 
shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the approved details. 
 
5. All planting comprised in the approved details of landscaping shall be carried out no later than 
the first planting and seeding season following the commencement of development. Any 
trees or plants which within a period of 5 years from the completion of the development die, 
are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting 
season with others of similar size and species. 
 
6. Notwithstanding the hereby approved plans, no external lighting shall be permitted to be 
installed on the building until the written approval of the Local Planning Authority has been 
obtained to details of the proposals, which shall be designed to avoid negative impacts on 
nocturnal wildlife. The approved measures shall be implemented in full and retained at all 

Page 63



times thereafter. 
 
7. Should the use of the building for agricultural and equestrian purposes cease, the building 
shall be removed from the land within 6 months of the date of the cessation of the use and the 
land shall be restored to a state fit for revegetation. 
 
8. The use of the building shall not be used at any time other than for purposes ancillary to 
the residential use of the dwelling at Bro Fair, and shall not be used for any commercial 
purpose at any time. 
 
 
The reasons for the conditions are: 
 
1. To comply with the provisions of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 
2. For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure a satisfactory standard of development. 
3. In order to maintain and enhance biodiversity 
4. In the interests of visual amenity and in order to maintain and enhance biodiversity 
5. In the interests of visual amenity and in order to maintain and enhance biodiversity 
6. In the interest of the amenities of occupiers of nearby properties and to protect nocturnal 
    wildlife 
7. In the interest of landscape and visual amenity 
8. For the avoidance of doubt, in the interests of residential amenity 
 
 
 

Page 64



  

  

 
 

 Paul Griffin  

WARD :  Tremeirchion  

WARD MEMBER(S):  Cllr Chris Evans (c)  

APPLICATION NO:  47/2023/0838/ PF  

PROPOSAL:  Conversion of chapel to form dwelling 

including the demolition and rebuilding of 

vestry building and erection of single 

storey extension, formation of vehicular 

access, parking area and associated 

works  

LOCATION:  Eglwys MC, Tremeirchion  

 

Page 65

Agenda Item 7



This page is intentionally left blank



 
47/2023/0838 

 Graddfa / Scale: 1:620

Canol / Centre: 308338, 372160 

Dyddiad / Date: 2024-10-28 10:30:12

© Hawlfraint y Goron a hawliau cronfa ddata 2024 Arolwg Ordnans AC0000819894 © Crown copyright
and database rights 2024 Ordnance Survey AC0000819894

 

Page 67



Page 68



47/2023/0838/PF – 

Eglwys MC Tremeirchion and Vestry   

Tremeirchion  St Asaph 

 Conversion of chapel to form dwelling 

including the demolition and rebuilding of 

vestry building and erection of single storey 

extension, formation of vehicular access, 

parking area and associated works

P
age 69



P
age 70



Location Plan

P
age 71



P
age 72



Proposed Elevations

P
age 73



P
age 74



Proposed Floor Plans

P
age 75



P
age 76



Site photographs

P
age 77



 Paul Griffin 
WARD : 
 

Tremeirchion 
 

WARD MEMBER(S): 
 

Cllr Chris Evans (c) 

APPLICATION NO: 
 

47/2023/0838/ PF 

PROPOSAL: 
 

Conversion of chapel to form dwelling including the demolition 
and rebuilding of vestry building and erection of single storey 
extension, formation of vehicular access, parking area and 
associated works 
 

LOCATION: Eglwys MC, Tremeirchion and Vestry, Tremeirchion, St Asaph 
LL17 0UE 
 

APPLICANT: Mr Nigel Heckman 
 

CONSTRAINTS: NONE 
 

PUBLICITY 
UNDERTAKEN: 
 

Site Notice - No 
Press Notice - No 
Neighbour letters - Yes 
 

  
 
REASON(S) APPLICATION REPORTED TO COMMITTEE: 
Scheme of Delegation Part 2 
 

• Recommendation to grant / approve – 4 or more objections received 
• Recommendation to grant / approve – Town / Community Council objection 

 
 

 
CONSULTATION RESPONSES: 

TREMEIRCHION, CWM AND WAEN COMMUNITY COUNCIL: 
“Objection pending review of vehicular access to the site; review of adequacy of sewage 
treatment; and improvements to visual amenity. 
Additional notes I have made at the meeting suggested that the road there is too narrow and 
dangerous (a 60 mph speed limit) for the type of parking spaces suggested in the plans.” 
 
 
CLWYDIAN RANGE AND DEE VALLEY AREA OF OUTSTANDING NATURAL BEAUTY 
JOINT ADVISORY COMMITTEE: 
“The conversion of the chapel will secure a positive use for the building and retain its existing 
appearance in the landscape. The proposed new contemporary link extension with the vestry 
provides a contrasting but sympathetic extension connecting the two buildings. It does not 
detract from the character and appearance of the chapel building. Subject to the removal of 
permitted developments rights the AONB Joint Committee raise no objections to this 
application.” 
 
 
NATURAL RESOURCES WALES 
Inadequate information has been provided in support of the proposal regarding ground 
contamination and protected species 
 
DWR CYMRU/WELSH WATER: 
No objections 

 
 
 

Page 78



 
CLWYD POWYS ARCHAEOLOGICAL TRUST 
“Information held within the Regional Historic Environment Record indicates that the conversion 
will significantly alter the Tremeirchion Welsh Calvinistic Methodist Chapel (NPRN 8178), a 
chapel built in 1889 in the Simple Gothic style. This building is of at least local vernacular and 
architectural interest, and it would be unfortunate if it is now altered without a record of its 
current form and layout. 
 
In this case we would advise that a Level 3 Historic Building Survey is completed by an 
approved archaeological contractor in accordance with the Planning Policy Wales (Feb 2021) 
and TAN 24 (May 2017) guidance to retain a record of the building in its current historic form 
and a suitable condition is provided below. 
 
The Level 3 survey would include a desk- based assessment to provide a building history, a 
detailed written descriptive survey of the present structure, measured survey of the building in 
plan and elevation, a detailed photographic survey, and phased plans of the building's 
development over time.” 
 
 
DENBIGHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL CONSULTEES – 
Traffic, Parking and Road Safety:  
- Highways Officer 

Initial concerns regarding the parking arrangements and concerns regarding highway 
safety due to lack of visibility. 

 
 
Ecology Officer 
Additional protected species surveys are necessary 
 
 

FIRST RE-CONSULTATION RESPONSES  
 
TREMEIRCHION, CWM AND WAEN COMMUNITY COUNCIL: 
Sustaining objections as revised plans do not overcome the concerns raised previously. 
 
NATURAL RESOURCES WALES 
Additional information is required in relation to drainage and protected species 
 
Ecology Officer: 
Additional information is required in relation to protected species. 
 
 
FINAL RE-CONSULTATION RESPONSES  
TREMEIRCHION, CWM AND WAEN COMMUNITY COUNCIL: 
“Eglwys MC Tremeirchion and Vestry. Objections sustained. As before these objections are: 
Councillors feel this particular proposal is overdevelopment of the site, and that the latest 
amendments and modifications do not address the concerns below. 

• Access: Firstly, there are still concerns regarding visibility for cars pulling out from the parking 
area into a single‐track road with a 60mph speed limit. Even with the relocation of the vestry 
the neighbouring property to the left will still obscure a clear view until the car has partly 
pulled out onto the Highway. At a site meeting it was noted that the road is only single 
carriageway immediately outside the property and there was a considerable number of cars 
passing in the half hour period that councillors were there. There have been many comments 
and questions about when highways visited and what time of day etc and would like another 
visit to the area as they would be pulling out into a 60mph zone. 

• Secondly, having been informed of the need for wheelchair access, councillors noted the lack 
of space available when two cars are parked. The plan does not show enough space for a 
wheelchair to get alongside the cars either to or from the preferred route into the building 
(noting that the chapel porch is NOT the preferred access). 

Page 79



• Septic Tank: Councillors have not seen any documentation confirming that the present septic 
tank is fit for purpose now that the applicant states that he has no plans to alter the sewage 
arrangements. Is there a covenant in place to allow owners of the building access to the 
septic tank which is on an adjacent field not in the same ownership? 

• Chapel Windows: Councillors are concerned about the loss of the three tall chapel windows 
due to the link corridor and believe that is seriously detrimental to maintaining the character of 
the chapel building. Original windows on the west side will also be lost. 

• The loss of a potential community building with significant history and emotional connection 
for many local people. 

• Impact on neighbouring property Ty Capel: Councillors wish to emphasise the major impact 
this particular proposal has on the next-door property and its residents. There will be light lost 
by relocating the vestry due to the new gable end and new boundary wall greatly reducing the 
light to Ty Capel. The encroachment is not merely physical but will also affect the mental 
health of the present elderly long term resident who is greatly upset already by this planning 
process. We understand that approaches from applicant to the elderly neighbour are also 
adding to this stress and we understand the family want any future approaches to be via them 
only. 

 
We therefore OBJECT to this application.” 
 
NATURAL RESOURCES WALES: 
No objection subject to the inclusion of standard conditions. 
 
 
Ecology Officer: 
Following the submission of additional details no objections subject to the inclusion of conditions. 
 
Highway Officer: 
My interim comments were provided to this scheme and posted on June 18th and should still be 
considered as part of this application. Further to this, the agent submitted further details on how the 
access and parking could be achieved.  Although the visibility is below standard, speeds at this 
location will be significantly lower due to the width and alignment of the road. The scheme shows that 
the boundary wall will be no greater than 1.0m metre and space for two vehicles provided to the front 
of the building, which I consider to be adequate to serve this small-scale development. 
 
Given the low traffic movements and lower speeds at this location do not envisage any significant 
highway related issues arising from vehicles accessing and egressing the site and therefore have no 
objection. 
 
I note the existing stone wall and railings will be retained as part of the scheme, I would advise the 
applicant that further details shall be provided on the existing stone wall and railings to ensure that the 
visibility at the point of access is not impaired. If this is the case the applicant shall submit further 
details for approval on the proposed inter-visibility railings to be provided. 
 
 
RESPONSE TO PUBLICITY: 

 
In objection 
Representations received from: 
John Evans, Tan Y Graig Cottage, TremeirchionPhil Adey, Tan Y Graig, TremeirchionHelen 
Williams, Henblas Farm Tremeirchion  
Mary Elizabeth Owens & Rhian Wynne Ty Capel Tremeirchion St Asaph Bethan Owens, Y 
Caban, Penlanfach, Ponthirwaun, Cardigan Peter and Anne Bullen, Henblas Farm, 
Tremerchion Frank Jordan, Rock Cottage, Tan Y Graig Rd, Tremeirchion  
 
Summary of planning based representations in objection: 
 
Highway Impact: concern is raised that the proposed parking arrangements would have an 
adverse impact on highway safety as a result of vehicles pulling out of the proposed driveway 
onto a 60mph road.  

Page 80



 
Drainage: The necessary consents are not in place / agreed with neighbouring properties and 
insufficient information is provided in the application.  
 
Character of Building: Local concern is raised that the proposed alterations will have a 
detrimental impact on the character of the chapel, though inappropriate materials for the 
extensions, removal of boundary walls, use of composite boarding for fencing and loss of 
original windows. Concern about the level of glazing and roof lights is expressed.  
 
Impact on Amenity: Concern is raised that the proposal would have an adverse impact on the 
privacy of residents in the neighbouring property. Concern is also raised that the proposal will 
over shadow the neighbouring property. 
 
Impact on Ecology: Neighbours consider the proposal would have an adverse impact on the 
ecology of the site/surrounding area and protected species. 
 
 

 
EXPIRY DATE OF APPLICATION: 08/05/2024    
 
EXTENSION OF TIME AGREED: 07/11/2024 
 
REASONS FOR DELAY IN DECISION:  
 

• additional information required from applicant 
• protracted negotiations resulting in amended plans 
• re-consultations / further publicity necessary on amended plans and / or additional 

information 
• awaiting consideration by Committee 

 
 
PLANNING ASSESSMENT: 
1. THE PROPOSAL: 

1.1 Summary of proposals 
1.1.1 The application seeks permission for the conversion of a chapel to form a single 

dwelling including the erection of a single storey link extension, formation of vehicular 
accesses and parking area and associated works at former Eglwys MC Tremeirchion 
and Vestry, Tremeirchion, St Asaph. 
 

1.1.2 The main ground floor of the chapel is proposed to be converted to an open plan 
kitchen, lounge and dining room with a separate office and shower room partitioned 
within the space. The lobby and main entrance are proposed to remain as existing. A 
mezzanine floor is proposed to the first floor accessed via a staircase to create a 
bedroom. A total of 2no. bedrooms would be created as part of the conversion 
scheme.  

 
1.1.3 Due to the land levels being lower to the rear proposed garden area, a terrace 

decking area is proposed to the rear of the chapel with 2 sets of French doors 
opening out from the living space. It would project to the rear by 2.5m. 

 
1.1.4 The Vestry building is proposed to connect to the chapel by a contemporary link 

extension which is shown to be clad in timber cedar cladding with a flat roof and 
would comprise a sunroom to the rear with bi fold doors with an entrance and glazing 
on the front elevation. 3 no. rooflights are proposed to the front and rear elevations of 
the roof. It is proposed to project to the side of the chapel by 5m to create the 
sunroom and would extend a further 3m to link to the en- suite bedroom. 

 
 

1.1.5 Parking for 2 vehicles is proposed within the front of the site on a permeable surface. 
 

Page 81



1.1.6 Drainage is proposed to a new package treatment plant which will replace the existing 
septic tank.  

 
1.1.7 The existing stone wall boundary to the north boundary is proposed to be removed 

and replaced with a 1.8m stone wall to the front section and 1.8m high close board 
timber fence to the rear section, the existing WC block is proposed to be demolished. 
The existing stone wall to the south and west boundary is to be retained. 
 

1.2 Other relevant information/supporting documents in the application 
1.2.1 Planning Statement, Design and Access Statement, Ecological Survey, Green 

Infrastructure Statement. 
 

1.3 Description of site and surroundings 
1.3.1 The property is located on the outskirts of Tremeirchion near St Asaph. It is situated 

to the south end of the village, on the B5429.The property is a detached former 
Chapel constructed of load bearing brick walls with a pitched, slated roof. There is 
also a separate Vestry building which is stone built with a hipped, slated roof. 
 

1.3.2 The Chapel was constructed circa 1888. 
 

1.4 Relevant planning constraints/considerations 
1.4.1 The site is located outside of the development boundary of Tremeirchion village in the 

Local Development Plan proposals map. 
 

1.5 Relevant planning history 
1.5.1 None 

 
1.6 Developments/changes since the original submission 

1.6.1 Submission of additional information to satisfy policies PSE4 and BSC11. Bat activity 
survey report and updated Green Infrastructure Statement. Amended access details 
and elevation details.  

 
       1.7 Other relevant background information 

1.7.1 None 
 
 
2. DETAILS OF PLANNING HISTORY: 

2.1 None 
 
 
3. RELEVANT POLICIES AND GUIDANCE: 

The main planning policies and guidance are considered to be: 
 

Local Policy/Guidance 
Denbighshire Local Development Plan (adopted 4th June 2013) 

  Policy BSC1 – Growth Strategy for Denbighshire 
Policy BSC3 – Securing infrastructure contributions from Development 
Policy BSC11 – Recreation and open space 
Policy BSC12 – Community facilities 
Policy PSE4 – Re-use and adaptation of rural buildings in open countryside 
Policy VOE2 – Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty and Area of Outstanding Beauty 
Policy VOE5 – Conservation of natural resources 
Policy ASA3 – Parking standards 
 
Supplementary Planning Guidance 
Supplementary Planning Guidance Note: Archaeology 
Supplementary Planning Guidance Note: Clwydian Range and Dee Valley Area of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty  
Supplementary Planning Guidance Note: Planning for Dark Skies – SPG for lighting in the 
Clwydian Range and Dee Valley Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty 

Page 82

https://www.denbighshire.gov.uk/en/resident/planning-and-building-regulations/local-development-plan/ldp-spg/spg-documents/adopted-spg-documents/Supplementary-Planning-Guidance-Note-Archaeology.pdf
https://www.denbighshire.gov.uk/en/resident/planning-and-building-regulations/local-development-plan/ldp-spg/spg-documents/adopted-spg-documents/supplementary-planning-guidance-clwydian-range-and-dee-valley-area-of-outstanding-natural-beauty.pdf
https://www.denbighshire.gov.uk/en/resident/planning-and-building-regulations/local-development-plan/ldp-spg/spg-documents/adopted-spg-documents/supplementary-planning-guidance-clwydian-range-and-dee-valley-area-of-outstanding-natural-beauty.pdf
https://www.denbighshire.gov.uk/en/resident/planning-and-building-regulations/local-development-plan/ldp-spg/spg-documents/adopted-spg-documents/supplementary-planning-guidance-clwydian-range-and-dee-valley-area-of-outstanding-natural-beauty.pdf


Supplementary Planning Guidance Note: Conservation and Enhancement of Biodiversity  
Supplementary Planning Guidance Note: Parking Requirements In New Developments 
Supplementary Planning Guidance Note: Planning Obligations  
Supplementary Planning Guidance Note: Recreational Public Open Space  
Supplementary Planning Guidance Note: Residential Development  
Supplementary Planning Guidance Note: Residential Space Standards  
Supplementary Planning Guidance Note: Re-use and adaptation of rural buildings 
Supplementary Planning Guidance Note: Trees & Landscaping 
 
Government Policy / Guidance 
Planning Policy Wales (Edition 12, 2024)  
Development Control Manual November 2016 
Future Wales – The National Plan 2040 
 
Technical Advice Notes 

 
TAN 5 Nature Conservation and Planning (2009) 
TAN 6 Planning for Sustainable Rural Communities (2010) 
TAN 12 Design (2016) 
TAN 18 Transport (2007)      

 
4. MAIN PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS: 
 

In terms of general guidance on matters relevant to the consideration of a planning application, 
Section 9.1.2 of the Development Management Manual (DMM) confirms the requirement that 
planning applications ‘must be determined in accordance with the approved or adopted 
development plan for the area, unless material considerations indicate otherwise'. It advises that 
material considerations must be relevant to the regulation of the development and use of land in 
the public interest, and fairly and reasonably relate to the development concerned.  
The DMM further states that material considerations can include the number, size, layout, design 
and appearance of buildings, the means of access, landscaping, service availability and the 
impact on the neighbourhood and on the environment (Section 9.4).  
 
The DMM has to be considered in conjunction with Planning Policy Wales (Edition 12, 2024) and 
other relevant legislation. 
 
Denbighshire County Council declared a climate change and ecological emergency in July 2019. 
In October 2020 the Council approved an amendment of its Constitution so that all decisions of 
the Council now have regard to tackling climate and ecological change as well as having regard 
to the sustainable development principles and the well-being of future generations.  
 
The Council aims to become a Net Carbon Zero Council and an Ecologically Positive Council by 
31 March 2030. Its goal and priorities are set out in its Climate and Ecological Change Strategy 
2021/22 to 2029/30. The actions, projects and priorities in the Strategy directly relate to council 
owned and controlled assets and services. One priority of the Strategy is to promote the existing 
policies within the Local Development Plan (LDP) 2006 to 2021 and Supplementary Planning 
Guidance (SPG) which contribute to environmentally responsible development. In preparing these 
reports to determine planning applications we therefore highlight the LDP 2006 to 2021 and 
appropriate SPG. Applications that are determined in accordance with the LDP 2006 to 2021 are 
environmentally responsible developments.  
 
Planning applications are assessed in accordance with statutory requirements including The 
Environment (Wales) Act 2016, national policy (Future Wales, PPW 12) and local policy (LDP 
2006 to 2021) and therefore they are assessed with regard to tackling climate and ecological 
change which is a material consideration. 
 
The following paragraphs in Section 4 of the report therefore refer to all statutory requirements, 
policies and material planning considerations which are considered to be of relevance to the 
proposal. 
 

Page 83

https://www.denbighshire.gov.uk/en/resident/planning-and-building-regulations/local-development-plan/ldp-spg/spg-documents/adopted-spg-documents/Supplementary-Planning-Guidance-Note-Conservation-and-Enhancement-of-Biodiversity-v2.pdf
https://www.denbighshire.gov.uk/en/resident/planning-and-building-regulations/local-development-plan/ldp-spg/spg-documents/adopted-spg-documents/Supplementary-Planning-Guidance-Note-Parking-Requirements-In-New-Developments.pdf
https://www.denbighshire.gov.uk/en/resident/planning-and-building-regulations/local-development-plan/ldp-spg/spg-documents/adopted-spg-documents/Supplementary-Planning-Guidance-Note-Planning-Obligations.pdf
https://www.denbighshire.gov.uk/en/resident/planning-and-building-regulations/local-development-plan/ldp-spg/spg-documents/adopted-spg-documents/Supplementary-Planning-Guidance-Note-Recreational-Public-Open-Space.pdf
https://www.denbighshire.gov.uk/en/resident/planning-and-building-regulations/local-development-plan/ldp-spg/spg-documents/adopted-spg-documents/Supplementary-Planning-Guidance-Note-Residential-Development.pdf
https://www.denbighshire.gov.uk/en/resident/planning-and-building-regulations/local-development-plan/ldp-spg/spg-documents/adopted-spg-documents/Supplementary-Planning-Guidance-Note-Residential-Space-Standards.pdf
https://www.denbighshire.gov.uk/en/resident/planning-and-building-regulations/local-development-plan/ldp-spg/spg-documents/adopted-spg-documents/Supplementary-Planning-Guidance-Re-use-and-adaptation-of-rural-buildings.pdf
https://www.denbighshire.gov.uk/en/resident/planning-and-building-regulations/local-development-plan/ldp-spg/spg-documents/adopted-spg-documents/Supplementary-Planning-Guidance-Note-Trees-Landscaping.pdf


4.1 The main land use planning issues in relation to the application are considered to be: 
 

4.1.1 Principle 
4.1.2 Visual amenity and impact on AONB 
4.1.3 Residential amenity 
4.1.4 Ecology 
4.1.5 Drainage 
4.1.6 Highways (including access and parking) 
4.1.7 Archaeology 
4.1.8 Open Space 

 
 

4.2 In relation to the main planning considerations: 
4.2.1 Principle 

In terms of the national planning policy context, Planning Policy Wales (PPW 12) 
Section 3.60 states that development in the countryside should be located within and 
adjoining those settlements where it can be best be accommodated in terms of 
infrastructure, access and habitat and landscape conservation. It also advises that 
new building in the open countryside away from existing settlements or areas 
allocated for development in development plans must continue to be strictly 
controlled. All new development should be of a scale and design that respects the 
character of the surrounding area. 
 
The site is located within the open countryside as identified in the adopted Local 
Development Plan (LDP) where new development is strictly controlled in the interests 
of sustainable development and the need to protect and enhance the natural and built 
heritage of the County. National policy guidance contained within Planning Policy 
Wales (PPW) restricts new building outside settlement limits unless it is justified as an 
exception to the policy of restraint.  
 
Paragraph 3.37 of PPW 12 states that “The countryside is a dynamic and multi-
purpose resource. In line with sustainable development and the national planning 
principles and in contributing towards placemaking outcomes, it must be conserved 
and, where possible, enhanced for the sake for its ecological, geological, 
physiographic, historical, archaeological, cultural and agricultural value and for its 
landscape and natural resources”. 
 
PPW states the countryside, in line with sustainability principles, should be conserved 
and where possible enhanced for its own sake. 

 
The proposal is for the conversion of a former chapel to a 2 bedroom open market 
dwelling. 
 
Policy PSE in the LDP relates to the re-use and adaptation of rural buildings in open 
countryside. It states that all conversions of rural buildings will be expected to make a 
positive contribution to the landscape and ensure that any architectural and/or historic 
features are retained.  Proposals for the conversion of rural buildings outside 
development boundaries for employment use will be supported.  Proposals for the 
conversion of rural buildings outside development boundaries for residential use will 
only be permitted where:  
i) An employment use has been demonstrated not to be viable; and 
ii) The dwelling(s) are affordable to meet local needs. 
 
The justification to Policy PSE 4 establishes, in line with national guidance, that the 
re-use for employment purposes will be the first priority. It states that residential re-
use will only be permitted where it has been shown that an employment use is not 
viable and any new dwelling would be affordable to meet local need.  
 

Page 84



The SPG on the conversion of rural buildings provides further guidance on the 
subject. It sets out the requirement for an employment / marketing test which should 
be undertaken for a minimum of 12 months to test the interest in an employment use. 
 
Having regard to the first part of the policy, an assessment of the contribution of the 
development on the landscape will be discussed in more detail in the following 
sections of the report. However, in broad terms, the conversion retains the entire 
original building, and whilst an extension is proposed, this is to replace a previous 
vestry extension. In general terms it is not considered that the proposal would harm 
the contribution the building makes to the character of the area.  

 
With regard to criterion i) evidence has been provided which aims to demonstrate that 
an employment use is not viable. The sales particulars include ‘commercial’ within 
their documentation for a potential new use for the chapel. The estate agents who 
marketed the property confirmed that there was no interest in the property for 
commercial or employment uses and only two tenders were received for residential 
purposes. The SPG guidance states to obtain the commercial property agents view 
as to the commercial viability of the site. The estate agents are of the opinion that it 
was ‘unlikely to be any demand for this property for commercial/employment use due 
to its size and nature and its listing, all of which significantly increases the cost of 
conversion and removes any commercial/economic viability for any form of 
commercial use’.  
 
Having regard to the guidance contained in the Conversions SPG, it states at 
paragraph 6.3 The marketing exercise should last a minimum of 12 months.  The 
planning authority will determine at its own discretion what timescale is “sufficient and 
reasonable”, following an assessment of the merits of each individual case.   

 
The proposal is for the conversion to a residential use which is not put forward as an 
affordable dwelling to meet local needs. Officers are aware that the purchase cost of 
the building was in excess of £130,000. Officers agree that a conversions scheme on 
such a building would far outweigh the affordable value of a dwelling in this location 
(£131,832). Although the proposal fails to comply with criterion ii) of the policy, it is 
considered that the scheme would not be viable as an affordable dwelling in this case.  
 
It is therefore considered reasonable to allow a market dwelling in this instance as it 
would provide a secure future for the building.   

 
This leads on to the consideration of Policy BCS12 - Community Facilities which only 
supports a change of use if it can be demonstrated that the potential for the continued 
use of the facility is unviable or unsuitable. 
 
This policy recognises that access to community facilities is an essential element of 
sustainable and inclusive communities. Community facilities such as schools, 
theatres, village halls and places of worship often serve a network of small 
settlements and are essential to reduce the amount of travelling to reach alternative 
community facilities. The loss of local facilities will lower community sustainability and 
this can have a knock on effect on the future well-being of the Welsh language.  
 
A statement was submitted by the Chapel Trustees to state that whilst the building 
was for sale, no interest was received to use it as a community building since its 
closure as a chapel 7 years ago.  
 
Whilst it is unfortunate to loose such a historic community facility in the area, Officers 
note that the building is a distance out from the main village and the village has a 
number of other community hubs such as the Salsbury Arms Public House, Old 
School Hall, Tremeirchion Primary school and Corpus Christi Church within 1km of 
the site. Officers are therefore of the opinion that the continued use of the facility for a 
community and following the decision to sell the building by the church committee, the 
continued use as a place of worship would not be viable. Officers conclude that there 

Page 85



are a number of other community facilities within the village and the loss of this facility 
would not impact unacceptably on the needs of the local community.  
 

 
The application is therefore considered to be acceptable in principle subject to an 
assessment of the localised impacts. 
 
 

4.2.2 Visual amenity and impact on AONB 
The Development Management Manual advises at paragraph 9.4.3 that material 
considerations must be fairly and reasonably related to the development concerned, 
and can include the number, size, layout, design and appearance of buildings, the 
means of access, landscaping, service availability and the impact on the 
neighbourhood and on the environment; and the effects of a development on, for 
example, health, public safety and crime. The visual amenity and landscape impacts 
of development should therefore be regarded as a potential material consideration. 
 
PPW 12 Section 6.3.3 states ‘All the landscapes of Wales are valued for their intrinsic 
contribution to a sense of place, and local authorities should protect and enhance 
their special characteristics, whilst paying due regard to the social, economic, 
environmental and cultural benefits they provide, and to their role in creating valued 
places.’ 
 
Policy VOE 2 requires assessment of the impact of development within or affecting 
the AONB and AOB, and indicates that this should be resisted where it would cause 
unacceptable harm to the character and appearance of the landscape and the 
reasons for designation.  
 
This reflects guidance in Planning Policy Wales (PPW 12) which requires planning 
authorities to give great weight to conserving and enhancing the natural beauty of 
AONBs, and should have regard to the wildlife, cultural heritage and social and 
economic well-being of the areas. The special qualities of designated areas should be 
given weight in the development management process. Proposals in AONBs must be 
carefully assessed to ensure that their effects on those features which the designation 
is intended to protect are acceptable. The contribution that development makes to the 
sustainable management of the designated area must be considered. 
 
Objections have been received regarding the proposed conversion scheme and its 
impact upon the character of the chapel. 
 
The application is for the conversion of a former chapel to a 2 bed dwelling. The 
external alterations would include the installation of patio doors to the rear, a link 
extension to a new single storey extension which replaces the existing vestry. Roof 
lights are also proposed. A garden area is proposed immediately to the rear of the 
building and fencing is proposed to the boundaries. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 86



Existing front (east) and rear (west) elevations: 
 

 
 

 
 
Proposed front (east) and rear (west) elevations: 
 

 

Page 87



The AONB Joint Committee have not raised an objection in principle to the proposal, 
subject to the removal of permitted developments rights with Officers consider 
acceptable and suggest a suitable condition. 
 
Local residents have raised concerns relating to the fencing details, Officers suggest 
a planning condition is imposed to require the submission of these details. 
 
In terms of the visual amenity impacts of the conversion scheme and the impact on 
the character of the AONB landscape, Officers conclude that the visual amenity 
impacts would not be unacceptable in this location and would retain the existing 
character of the chapel. 
 
 

4.2.3 Residential amenity 
The Development Management Manual advises at paragraph 9.4.3 that material 
considerations must be fairly and reasonably related to the development concerned, 
and can include the number, size, layout, design and appearance of buildings, the 
means of access, landscaping, service availability and the impact on the 
neighbourhood and on the environment; and the effects of a development on, for 
example, health, public safety and crime. The residential amenity impacts of 
development should therefore be regarded as a potential material consideration. 
 
No representations have been received raising residential amenity concerns. 
 
There is a neighbouring property adjoining the chapel (Ty Capel) to the north. Officers 
consider the proposal would not have an unacceptable impact on residential amenity, 
subject to appropriate boundary treatments being installed which is suggested as 
planning condition. It is not considered an additional dwelling would give rise to a level 
of disturbance greater than the former use as a community chapel. 
 
Having regard to the scale, location and design of the proposed development, it is 
considered that the proposals would not have an unacceptable impact on residential 
amenity, and would therefore be in general compliance with the tests of the policies 
referred to. 
 
 

4.2.4 Ecology 
Policy VOE 5 requires due assessment of potential impacts on protected species or 
designated sites of nature conservation, including mitigation proposals, and suggests 
that permission should not be granted where proposals are likely to cause significant 
harm to such interests.  
 
This reflects policy and guidance in Planning Policy Wales (PPW 12) which was 
updated in October 2023 by the publication of an amended Chapter 6 – Distinctive 
and Natural Places.  Section 6.4 ‘Biodiversity and Ecological Networks’, current 
legislation and the Conservation and Enhancement of Biodiversity SPG stress the 
importance of the planning system in meeting biodiversity objectives through 
promoting approaches to development which create new opportunities to enhance 
biodiversity, prevent biodiversity losses, or compensate for losses where damage is 
unavoidable.  
 
Planning Policy Wales (PPW 12) sets out that “planning authorities must seek to 
maintain and enhance biodiversity in the exercise of their functions. This means 
development should not cause any significant loss of habitats or populations of 
species (not including non native invasive species), locally or nationally and must 
work alongside nature and it must provide a net benefit for biodiversity and improve, 
or enable the improvement, of the resilience of ecosystems” (Section 6.4.5).  
 
Planning Policy Wales (PPW 12) also draws attention to the contents of Section 6 of 
the Environment (Wales) Act 2016, which sets a duty on Local Planning Authorities to 

Page 88



demonstrate they have taken all reasonable steps to maintain and enhance 
biodiversity in the exercise of their functions. It is important that biodiversity and 
resilience considerations are taken into account at an early stage when considering 
development proposals (Section 6.4.4). 
 
The updated Chapter 6 of PPW 11 introduces policy changes relating to green 
infrastructure, net benefits for biodiversity and the Step-Wise Approach, protection for 
Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) and Trees and Woodlands.  
• Green Infrastructure 
A stronger emphasis on taking a proactive approach to green infrastructure covering 
cross boundary considerations, identifying key outputs of green infrastructure 
assessments and the submission of proportionate green infrastructure statements 
with planning applications.  
• Net Benefit for Biodiversity and the Step-wise Approach  
Further clarity is provided on securing net benefit for biodiversity through the 
application of the step-wise approach, including the acknowledgement of off-site 
compensation measures as a last resort, and, the need to consider enhancement and 
long-term management at each step. A number of factors will affect the 
implementation of the step-wise approach,  
pre-emptive site clearance works should not be undertaken however if this does occur 
its biodiversity value should be deemed to have been as it was before any site 
investigations or clearance took place and a net benefit for biodiversity must be 
achieved from that point.  
• Protection for Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) 
Protection is strengthened with increased clarity on the position for site management 
and exemptions for minor development necessary to maintain a ‘living landscape. 
• Trees and Woodlands 
A closer alignment with the stepwise approach, along with promoting new planting as 
part of development based on securing the right trees in the right place. 
 
The Development Management Manual advises at paragraph 9.4.3 that material 
considerations must be fairly and reasonably related to the development concerned, 
and can include the number, size, layout, design and appearance of buildings, the 
means of access, landscaping, service availability and the impact on the 
neighbourhood and on the environment; and the effects of a development on, for 
example, health, public safety and crime. The ecological impacts of development 
should therefore be regarded as a potential material consideration. 
 
Future Wales – The National Plan 2040 (2021) Policy 9 advises that 'In all cases, 
action towards securing the maintenance and enhancement of biodiversity (to provide 
a net benefit), the resilience of ecosystems and green infrastructure assets must be 
demonstrated as part of development proposals through innovative, nature based 
approaches to site planning and the design of the built environment'. It is therefore 
recommended that these are included and form part of any planning application. 
 
The application is supported by a Preliminary Ecological Appraisal which concludes 
that the building is used as a bat roost. Natural Resources Wales (NRW) do not raise 
an objection, but conclude a bat licence will be required before work can be 
undertaken. NRW advise that the proposal is a lower risk case for bats, and that it 
considers the development is not likely to be detrimental to the maintenance of the 
population of the species concerned at a favourable conservation status in its natural 
range.  
 
In considering the grant of planning permission the LPA must consider whether the 
disturbance of the protected species is required for the purpose of “preserving public 
health or public safety or other imperative reasons of overriding public interest 
including those of a social or economic nature and beneficial consequences of 
primary importance of the environment.” 
 

Page 89



This proposal, being for the conversion of a redundant building, is considered to 
accord with social and economic justifications – it will add an additional unit to the 
housing stock in a rural area, prevent a building falling into a derelict state and 
provide work for local trades people. Furthermore, if carried out correctly the works 
could secure the longer term future of the habitat.  
 
Having regard to the nature of the proposal, it is not considered that there is a 
satisfactory alternative to the works proposed as the alternative would be to do 
nothing, resulting in further deterioration of the building. It is also considered that it is 
not practicable to leave the building as is, because in that scenario, works would be 
required at some point in the future to improve the thermal efficiency of the building – 
it is inevitable that at some point works would need to be undertaken on the building, 
which would require a licence. 
 
A Green Infrastructure Statement (GrIS) has also been submitted with the application.  
 
The Ecology Officer has advised that they raise no objection to the proposals subject 
to the attachment of conditions around biodiversity protection, enhancement and 
external/internal lighting.  
 
It is therefore considered reasonable to attach conditions to demonstrate that the 
biodiversity enhancement measures are installed as recommended in the report and 
external lighting does not impact negatively on bats to ensure there is a net benefit to 
biodiversity, no let loss of roosting or nest sites, nor any danger of harm to any 
species.  
 
Subject to the imposition of appropriately worded conditions, it is considered that the 
proposals are in line with the advice contained in PPW 12 and would provide 
enhancement measures to increase the biodiversity opportunities at the site. 
 
 

4.2.5 Drainage  
The Development Management Manual advises at paragraph 9.4.3 that material 
considerations must be fairly and reasonably related to the development concerned, 
and can include the number, size, layout, design and appearance of buildings, the 
means of access, landscaping, service availability and the impact on the 
neighbourhood and on the environment; and the effects of a development on, for 
example, health, public safety and crime. The drainage and flood risk impacts of 
development should therefore be regarded as a potential material consideration. 
 
Planning Policy Wales (PPW 12) Section 6.6.9 states ‘The adequacy of water supply 
and the sewage infrastructure should be fully considered when proposing 
development, both as a water service and because of the consequential 
environmental and amenity impacts associated with a lack of capacity’. 
 
The proposal involves the installation of a package treatment plant and associated 
drainage field to the south of the dwelling.  
 
Objections have been raised to the proposal, but these have focused primarily on civil 
law issues. From a planning perspective the use of a private treatment plant in this 
location is acceptable and is already established. The proposal to improve the 
existing system would be controlled outside of the planning process.  
 
It is not considered that there is a sound planning reason to resist the application on 
the grounds of drainage.  
 
 
 
 
 

Page 90



4.2.6 Highways (including access and parking) 
The Development Management Manual advises at paragraph 9.4.3 that material 
considerations must be fairly and reasonably related to the development concerned, 
and can include the number, size, layout, design and appearance of buildings, the 
means of access, landscaping, service availability and the impact on the 
neighbourhood and on the environment; and the effects of a development on, for 
example, health, public safety and crime. The highway impacts of development 
should therefore be regarded as a potential material consideration. 
 
Policy ASA 3 requires adequate parking spaces for cars and bicycles in connection 
with development proposals, and outlines considerations to be given to factors 
relevant to the application of standards. These policies reflect general principles set 
out in Planning Policy Wales (PPW 12) and TAN 18 – Transport, in support of 
sustainable development.  
 
The Parking Standards in New Developments SPG sets out the maximum parking 
standards for new developments. 
 
Significant concern has been raised by local residents as to the acceptability of the 
parking and access arrangement to the site.  
 
The proposal involves the creation of 2 parking spaces to the front of the building 
accessed by a new opening in the existing stone boundary wall.  
 
The Highways Officer has advised that despite initial concerns the access has been 
amended sufficiently to improve the visibility for vehicles pulling out of the proposed 
parking area. The Highway Officer considers that whilst the visibility splays are below 
standard, the proposal is small in scale, and matches existing accesses in the area. It 
is also noted that there are no recorded highway safety issues in the area.  
 
Weight is also to be attached to the extant use of the site as a chapel which is classed 
as a D1 Non-residential institution. This would allow the building to be used as any of 
the following uses without planning permission: clinics, health centres, crèches, day 
nurseries, day centres, schools, art galleries (other than for sale or hire), museums, 
libraries, halls, places of worship, church halls, law court, non- residential education 
and training centres and would almost certainly result in a greater number of vehicle 
movements being associated with the use. 
 
Whilst respecting the concerns raised by the Community Council and local residents, 
Officers consider that as a result of the physical nature of the adjacent road, and the 
potential for the building to be used as a Class D1 non- residential institution, the 
proposed parking and access arrangements are not unacceptable in this instance. 
 
 

4.2.7 Archaeology 
Local Development Plan Policy VOE1 seeks to protect sites of built heritage from 
development which would adversely affect them, and requires that development 
proposals should maintain and wherever possible enhance them for their 
characteristics, local distinctiveness and value to local communities.  
 
Planning Policy Wales (PPW 12), Section 6 ‘Distinctive and Natural Places’ 
recognises the need to conserve archaeological remains. The consideration of 
archaeological remains and their setting is a material planning consideration in 
determining planning applications, whether those remains are a schedules monument 
or not.  
 
Section 4 of TAN 24 - The Historic Environment sets out similar considerations to be 
given by a Local Planning Authority to the determination of applications involving 
archaeological remains, and their settings. It outlines different scenarios obliging 

Page 91



consideration of impacts and stresses the need for submissions to include relevant 
surveys, studies and assessments, and mitigation proposals.  
 
CPAT have advised that information held within the Regional Historic Environment 
Record indicates that the conversion will significantly alter the Tremeirchion Welsh 
Calvinistic Methodist Chapel (NPRN 8178), a chapel built in 1889 in the Simple 
Gothic style. This building is of at least local vernacular and architectural interest, and 
it would be unfortunate if it is now altered without a record of its current form and 
layout. 
 
CPAT therefore request that a Level 3 Historic Building Survey is completed by an 
approved archaeological contractor in accordance with the Planning Policy Wales 
(Feb 2024) and TAN 24 (May 2017) guidance to retain a record of the building in its 
current historic form. This is to be secured by imposition of a planning condition. 
 
Having regard to the advice provided by CPAT, Officers are of the opinion that it 
would be reasonable to attach the condition to any decision to grant, to ensure the 
important features of interest in the building is recorded prior to conversion by an 
Archaeological Contractor. 
 
 

4.2.8 Open Space 
Policy BSC 3 of the local development plan sets the basic requirement for 
development to contribute, where relevant, to the provision of infrastructure, including 
recreation and open space, in accordance with Policy BSC 11.  
 
Policy BSC 11 specifies that all new housing developments should make adequate 
provision for recreation and open space.  All such schemes put increased demand on 
existing open spaces and facilities and therefore the policy applies to all 
developments including single dwellings.  
 
Table 4 in the Open Space SPG (adopted March 2017) sets out thresholds for on-site 
provision and financial contributions. It specifies that for schemes of 1 – 30 dwellings, 
open space obligations should be met through financial contributions rather than 
onsite provision, however 5.4.9 of the SPG does state that the thresholds are 
indicative, and onsite provision for sites of less than 30 will be considered on their 
merits. 
 
An Open Space Assessment and Audit Report has been completed by the Council 
and provides the evidence base for Policy BSC 11. The report assesses the quantity, 
quality and accessibility of existing open spaces in the County on a community area 
basis with some additional information on an electoral ward basis. 
 
In relation to the application, the assessment shows there is a deficiency in open 
space in Tremeirchion. 
 
On the basis of the evidence within the Open Space Assessment and Audit Report, it 
is considered that the proposal should make a financial contribution of £1237.22 to 
mitigate the increased usage on the existing open space and equipment within the 
area.  

 
The proposal is considered acceptable in relation to open space policy subject to the 
requisite contribution being secured through an appropriate agreement. 

 
 

Other matters 
Well – being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 
The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 imposes a duty on the 
Council not only to carry out sustainable development, but also to take reasonable 
steps in exercising its functions to meet its sustainable development (or well-being) 

Page 92



objectives. The Act sets a requirement to demonstrate in relation to each application 
determined, how the development complies with the Act. 
 
The report on this application has taken into account the requirements of Section 3 
‘Well-being duties on public bodies’ and Section 5 ‘The Sustainable Development 
Principles’ of the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015. The 
recommendation is made in accordance with the Act’s sustainable development 
principle through its contribution towards Welsh Governments well-being objective of 
supporting safe, cohesive and resilient communities. It is therefore considered that 
there would be no significant or unacceptable impact upon the achievement of well-
being objectives as a result of the proposed recommendation.  
 
Equality Act  2010 
The Equality Act 2010 identifies a number of ‘protected characteristics’, namely age; 
disability; gender reassignment; pregnancy and maternity; race; religion or belief; sex; 
sexual orientation. A public authority must, in the exercise of its functions, have due 
regard to advancing equality. 

 
Having due regard to advancing equality involves: 
• removing or minimising disadvantages suffered by people due to their protected 
characteristics; 
• taking steps to meet the needs of people from protected groups where these differ 
from the need of other people; and 
• encouraging people from protected groups to participate in public life or in other 
activities where their participation is disproportionately low.  

 
The above duty has been given due consideration in the determination of this 
application. It is considered that the proposed development does not have any 
significant implications for, or effect on, persons who share a protected characteristic, 
over and above any other person.  
 
 

5. SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS: 
5.1 The principle of the proposal is considered acceptable with no local adverse impacts. The 

application is therefore recommended for approval subject to the imposition of planning 
conditions.  
 

5.2 A suitable open space agreement should be completed along with a commuted sum payment 
 of £1237.22. This should be completed and paid before the decision is issued. 
 

RECOMMENDATION:  GRANT - subject to the following conditions: 
 
1. The development shall begin no later than 5 years from the date of this decision. 
 
2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in strict accordance with details shown 

on the following submitted plans and documents unless specified as otherwise within any 
other condition pursuant to this permission: 
(i) Location Plan (Drawing No. 005 Rev A) - Received 28 May 2024 
(ii) Block Plan with drainage (Drawing No. 006 Rev C) - Received 28 May 2024 
(iii) Existing Floor Plans (Drawing No. 002 Rev B) - Received 28 May 2024 
(iv) Existing Elevations (Drawing No. 001 Rev A) - Received 28 May 2024 
(v) Proposed Floor Plans and site plan  (Drawing No. 004 Rev G) - Received 7 October 2024 
(vi) Proposed Elevations (Drawing No. 003 Rev E) - Received 7 October 2024 
(vii) Design and Access Statement - Received 28 May 2024 
(viii) Preliminary Roost Assessment (Ref: 20240001-PRA Rev A, Switch Ecology dated 
5/1/24) - Received 10 January 2024 
(ix) Planning and Green Infrastructure Statement - Received 22 August 2024 
(x) Proposed Changes to Boundaries elevations (Drawing No. 007 Rev C) - Received 22 
August 2024 
(xi) Proposed drainage scheme - Received 28 May 2024 

Page 93



(xii) Treatment Plant Specification - Received 2 May 2024 
(xiii) Treatment Plan Brochure - Received 2 May 2024 
(xiv) 12 Person Treatment Plant Drawing - Received 2 May 2024 
(xv) Re use of rural building appraisal - Received 2 May 2024 
(xvi) Envirosmart Phase 1 Contaminated Land Assessment (GeoSmart Information Ltd, dated 
May 2024) - Received 22 May 2024 
(xvii) Bat Report & Mitigation Strategy (switch ecology Rev 1: Report dated 1/7/2024)  - 
Received 3 July 2024 

 
3. PRE COMMENCEMENT CONDITION 

No development shall take place until a programme of building recording and analysis, 
equivalent to an Historic England Level 3 building survey, has been secured and 
implemented, in accordance with a brief issued by the Local Planning Authority and a written 
scheme of investigation which has been submitted and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The survey shall be completed by a professional archaeological 
contractor. The programme of building analysis and recording must meet the standards laid 
down by the Chartered Institute for Archaeologists in their Standard and Guidance for the 
archaeological investigation and recording of standing buildings or structures. A copy of the 
resulting report should be submitted to the Local Planning Authority and the Development 
Control Archaeologist, Clwyd-Powys Archaeological Trust (The Offices, Coed y Dinas, 
Welshpool, Powys, SY21 8RP Email: neil.bayliss@cpat.org.uk Tel: 01938 553670). On 
approval by the Local Planning Authority, project data must be submitted and approved for 
inclusion in the Clwyd-Powys Archaeological Trust's Historic Environment Record [CPAT 
HER]. For any questions regarding this submission process, please contact the HER Team at 
her@cpat.org.uk. The full digital archive must also be submitted and approved for inclusion 
within the National Monuments Record, RCAHMW or the Archaeology Data Service, ADS.  

 
4. The development shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the measures set out in 

Section 5 of the approved Bat Report & Mitigation Strategy (switch ecology, 1st July 2024).  
 
5. No development shall take place until a scheme for biodiversity enhancement has been 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall 
be carried out strictly in accordance with the approved details and shall be implemented in full 
prior to the occupation of the development. 

 
6. External works shall take place during daylight hours only, with no artificial lighting used 

during the demolition or construction phase. 
 
7. Notwithstanding the hereby approved plans and documents, an external lighting/internal light 

spillage scheme designed to avoid negative impacts on bats, shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. This shall include plans illustrating the 
location and type of existing and proposed external lighting and have consideration for the 
projected or retained bat emergence points from existing and proposed roosts, along with any 
enhancement features and retained or proposed features planned for bats functional use in 
foraging/dispersal purposes. The scheme shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the 
approved details. 

 
8. Notwithstanding the hereby approved plans and documents, within 3 months of the date of 

this permission a full hard and soft landscaping scheme to include all boundary treatment 
details shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for written approval. The scheme 
shall be designed to deliver a net benefit for biodiversity and include all proposed new trees, 
hedgerows, shrubs or vegetation, including confirmation of species, numbers, maturity, 
location, height, spacing and timing of implementation. The landscaping scheme as approved 
shall be implemented in the first available planting season following this permission and shall 
be retained as such at all times. 

 
9. All trees and hedges to be retained (including those adjacent to the site) as part of the 

development hereby permitted shall be protected during site clearance and throughout the 
course of the development by a fence one metre from the outermost limit of the root 
protection area (in accordance with BS5837:2012 Trees in Relation to Design, Demolition and 

Page 94



Construction - Recommendations). No construction materials or articles of any description 
shall be burnt or placed on the ground that lies between a tree trunk or hedgerow and such 
fencing, nor within these areas shall the existing ground level be raised or lowered, or any 
trenches or pipe runs excavated, without prior written consent of the Local Planning Authority. 

 
10. Facilities shall be provided and retained within the site for the parking of vehicles as indicated 

on the approved plan, and shall be completed prior to the occupation of the dwelling hereby 
approved. 

 
11. No development shall take place until details of the existing stone wall and railings to be 

retained have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. This 
is to ensure that the visibility at the point of access is not impaired. If visibility is impaired, the 
submitted details must include further details on the proposed inter-visibility railings to be 
provided. The development shall proceed in strict accordance with such approved details. 

 
12. If, during development, contamination not previously identified is found to be present at the 

site then no further development (unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning 
Authority) shall be carried out until a remediation strategy detailing how this unsuspected 
contamination shall be dealt with has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The remediation strategy shall be carried out as approved. 

 
13.  Notwithstanding the provisions of all Classes of Part 1 of Schedule 2 of the Town and 

Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 1995 (or any order revoking and 
re-enacting that Order with or without modification) no development permitted by the said 
Classes shall be carried out without approval in writing of the Local Planning Authority. 

 
14.  Prior to the installation of the rooflights on the front elevation of the former chapel building 

details of the rooflights which should be Conservation style rooflights with a central vertical 
gazing bar shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
The development shall proceed in strict accordance with such approved details. 

 
The reasons for the conditions are: 

 
1. To comply with the provisions of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
 
2. For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure a satisfactory standard of development 
 
3. To allow an adequate analytical record of the listed building before alteration, renovation, and 

extension and to ensure that the buildings origins, use, and development are understood and 
the main features, character and state of preservation are recorded. 

 
4. To maintain the favourable conservation status of protected species 
 
5. In order to maintain and enhance biodiversity 
 
6. To maintain the favourable conservation status of protected bat species 
 
7. To maintain the favourable conservation status of protected bat species 
 
8. In the interest of visual amenity and enhancing the biodiversity of the area 
 
9. In the interest of visual amenity and enhancing the biodiversity of the area 
 
10. To provide for the parking of vehicles clear of the highway and to ensure that reversing by 

vehicles into or from the highway is rendered unnecessary in the interest of traffic safety 
 
11. In the interests of highway safety 
 
 

Page 95



12. To ensure the risks associated with previously unsuspected contamination at the site are 
dealt with through a remediation strategy, to minimise the risk to both future users of the land 
and neighbouring land, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without 
unacceptable risks. 

 
13. In the interests of residential and visual amenity 
 
14. In the interest of visual amenity 

 
 

Page 96


	Agenda
	1 APOLOGIES
	2 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
	4 MINUTES
	5 APPLICATION NO. 45/2024/1019 - 1 WELLINGTON ROAD, RHYL, LL18 1AY
	45-2024-1019
	45-2024-1019 Location Plan
	Wellington-Road-Powerpoint-Presentation
	Slide 1: 45/2024/1019/PF – 1, Wellington Road, Rhyl    Change of use from shop (use class A1) to a hot food takeaway/restaurant (use class A3) and installation of new shopfront
	Slide 2
	Slide 3
	Slide 4: Proposed Elevation
	Slide 5: Extraction detail
	Slide 6: Site photographs
	Slide 7

	Final Report For Committee (06.11.24)


	6 APPLICATION NO. 24/2023/0566 - LAND AT BRO FAIR, STATION ROAD, RHEWL
	24-2023-0566
	20-2023-0566 (Location Plan)
	Presentation
	24/2023/0566/ PF��Bro Fair, Rhewl��Erection of stable, formation of hardstanding and access road, landscaping and associated works
	Slide Number 2
	Slide Number 3
	Slide Number 4
	Slide Number 5
	Slide Number 6
	Slide Number 7
	Slide Number 8
	Slide Number 9

	Final Report fror Committee
	REASONS FOR DELAY IN DECISION (where applicable):
	PLANNING ASSESSMENT:
	2. DETAILS OF PLANNING HISTORY:

	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page


	7 APPLICATION NO. 47/2023/0838 - EGLWYS MC, TREMEIRCHION
	47-2023-0838 Tremeirchion- PDF
	47_2023_0838 (Location Plan)
	Eglwys MC Tremeirchion Powerpoint Presentation
	Slide 1:  47/2023/0838/PF –  Eglwys MC Tremeirchion and Vestry   Tremeirchion  St Asaph     Conversion of chapel to form dwelling including the demolition and rebuilding of vestry building and erection of single storey extension, formation of vehicular ac
	Slide 2
	Slide 3: Proposed Elevations
	Slide 4
	Slide 5: Site photographs

	Final Report for Committee
	REASONS FOR DELAY IN DECISION:

	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page



